Dissertationes Forestales 175

Opportunities for cost mitigation and efficiency improvements through rationalization of small-diameter energy wood supply chains

Aaron Petty Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Walter Auditorium of the EE-building (Agnes Sjöbergin katu 2) on April 4th, 2014, at 12 o'clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Opportunities for cost mitigation and efficiency improvements through rationalization of small-diameter energy wood supply chains.

Author: Aaron Petty

Dissertationes Forestales 175 doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.175

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Bo Dahlin Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Development Manager, D.Sc. (Agr. & For.) Kalle Kärhä Stora Enso Wood Supply, Vantaa, Finland

Pre-examiners: Adjunct Prof., Regional Director, Western Finland Regional Unit Jori Uusitalo, PhD. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Parkano, Finland

Senior Consultant, Kjell Suadicani, PhD. Department of Geosciences and Natural Resources, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

Opponent: Associate Professor Ola Lindroos Department of Forest Biomaterials and Technology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-439-3 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-449-9 (paperback)

(2014)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science P.O. Box 18 FI-01301 Vantaa, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes **Petty A. (2014).** Opportunities for cost mitigation and efficiency improvements through rationalization of small-diameter energy wood supply chains. Dissertationes Forestales 175. 47 p.

doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/df.175

ABSTRACT

The production of energy wood from small-diameter (DBH < 9 cm) forests in Finland through separate energy wood and integrated energy wood and pulpwood production often face cost pressures that inhibit economic viability of many operations. Systemic factors, such as small stem sizes, limited removals, and high density of young forest stands limit the efficiency of many operations resulting in low productivity and high operating costs, particularly within cutting operations.

Within the study, means to increase efficiency and mitigate costs of small-diameter energy wood and integrated energy wood and pulpwood operations by identifying optimal methods, technologies, and policy that may be applied were identified. Studies of integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods including the use of multi-tree handling and combined timber assortments in forest stands with stem size (DBH) of removals varying between 5-17 cm were investigated and compared against separate pulpwood production. Findings suggest that the methods provide increases in productivity and decreases in costs, particularly in < 11 cm DBH conditions. Crane scale measuring was investigated as a technical solution in timber logistics to be applied in energy wood and industrial roundwood procurement. The measuring method, used as a basis of payment, was found to provide a reliable, accurate, and cost effective method when compared with a manual timber pile measurement system. Policies, in the form of financial incentives were investigated to determine the effects of applicable subsidies on the profitability of energy wood production based on stem size of removal, finding possibilities for profitable operations with reduction in subsidies, however, with stem sizes (DBH) of removal \leq 7 cm incentives played an important role in increasing profitability.

Cost reductions were identified through: The utilization of integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods with multi-tree handling, decreasing harvesting costs by 0.1-52.4% dependent on stem size (DBH) of removal between 7-17 cm when compared to a traditional pulpwood harvesting method; Combining timber assortments providing harvesting cost reductions between 1.5-8.0% between 5-17 cm; Crane scale measurement use provided increased accuracy and a 18.2-45.5% reduction in costs when compared to a manual timber pile measurement system when dependent on estimated working volumes between 20,000-30,000 m³; Financial incentives under the PETU system were applied increasing profit margins of integrated supply chain operations by 3.8-19.9% dependent on stem size of removal, particularly with stem size of removals between 5-7 cm.

Through rationalization of supply chains, harvesting methods, technologies, and policy which exhibit the ability to reduce costs and should be utilized throughout the whole supply chain where implementation is possible.

Keywords: Energy wood production, integrated forest operations, supply chain profitability, productivity, small-diameter forest stands, subsidies, crane scale measurement.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This doctoral study is a product of research conducted with Metsäteho Oy in collaboration with the University of Helsinki, Department of Forest Sciences and the Forest Industry Research School in Technology (FIRST) program. Funding in completing the research was provided through Metsäteho Oy, GS Forest, and the University of Helsinki.

Heikki Pajuoja and Jarmo Hämäläinen are greatfully acknowledged for creating the research opportunities leading to the completion of this project and their guidance throughout the process. Kalle Kärhä and Timo Melkas, who provided a wealth of knowledge, effort, and guidance within their research areas and the studies conducted, are as well gratefully acknowledged. For their help in the technical, theoretical, and practical considerations of research and study designs, Sirka Keskinen, Asko Poikela, and Bo Dahlin are gratefully acknowledged for providing guidance. For advice and constructive criticism, those who have added in the review process are thanked. Supervisors Kalle Kärhä and Bo Dahlin are thanked for their time and efforts throughout this project.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Forest Industry Research School in Technology program and their participants for providing an impetus for this project, the various seminar and research trips, networking opportunities within the field of forest technology, and the numerous working meetings that were conducted. Furthermore, I would like to thank family and friends whose support throughout this process has been ubiquitous.

Helsinki, March 2014

Aaron Petty

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This dissertation consists of a summary and the four following articles, which are referred to by roman numerals I-IV. Articles I, II are reprints of previously published articles reprinted here with the permission of the publisher. Articles III and IV are the authors versions of the submitted manuscripts.

- I Petty A., Kärhä K. (2011). Effects of subsidies on the profitability of energy wood production of wood chips from early thinning in Finland. Forest Policy and Economics 13: 575-581.
 doi: 10.1016/j.forpol.2011.07.003
- II Petty A., Kärhä K. (2014). Productivity and cost evaluations of energy-wood and pulpwood harvesting systems in first thinnings. International Journal of Forest Engineering. doi: 10.1080/14942119.2014.893129
- III Petty A., Kärhä K. (2014). System analyses in energy and forest product production: A case study on supply chain costs and profitability. Manuscript.
- IV Petty A., Melkas T. (2014). Economic and technical importance of crane scale accuracy: A case study on timber truck and forwarder crane scale measurement. Manuscript.

Authors' contributions

Aaron Petty was the main author and fully responsible for the data analyses and writing for all of the articles. Within Paper I, Kalle Kärhä led designing of the study providing background data on forest stand conditions and removals, and estimated supply chain cost functions, Aaron Petty conducted data analyses and the writing of the paper. In Paper II, Kalle Kärhä and partners at Metsäteho Ltd led the design and implementation of the time study and provided the relationship between stem size and removals within the study. Time study and cost calculations were determined by Aaron Petty and Kalle Kärhä in conjunction with partners at Metsäteho Ltd. Productivity and statistical analyses were determined by Aaron Petty. For Paper III, Kalle Kärhä in conjunction with partners at Metsäteho Ltd led the design of the time study and provided the relationship between stem size and removals within the study. Time and productivity calculations and statistical analyses were performed by Aaron Petty with partners at Metsäteho Ltd. Cost estimates were determined by Aaron Petty, Kalle Kärhä, and partners at Metsäteho Ltd. In Paper IV, Aaron Petty, Timo Melkas, and partners at Metsäteho Ltd jointly designed the study and determined cost parameters. Timo Melkas and partners with in the Finnish Forest Industries Federation collected data utilized within the study. Quantitative and statistical analyses were performed by Aaron Petty.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
Development of energy wood supply chains and harvesting of small-diame stands	
Environment and operational research constraints	8
Technical development and economic considerations in energy wood prod	uction11
Cost considerations within operational research	13
OBJECTIVES	15
MATERIALS	16
Forest operation time study data	16
Crane scale measurement data	
Cost data	20
METHODS	21
Effective time and productivity with analysis	21
Crane scale accuracy and analysis	22
Supply chain costs and profitability	23
RESULTS	24
Harvesting technologies and operation methods	24
Accuracy and economic importance of crane scale measurement	27
Integrated energy wood and pulpwood supply chain considerations	29
Policy implications in relation to supply chain profitability	30
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	31
Efficiency improvements and cost reductions through rationalization	31
Future research	36
REFERENCES	38

INTRODUCTION

Development of energy wood supply chains and harvesting of small-diameter forest stands

The production of energy from forests in the form of wood chips in Finland has increased from under 2 TWh in the year 2000 to 15 TWh in 2011 with 1 TWh corresponding to approximately 0.5 million m³ (Ylitalo 2012). In 2011, energy derived from wood chips at approximately 810 energy plants accounted for 3.9% of total energy consumption within Finland with approximately 7.5 million m³ of wood chips derived from small-diameter forest stands, logging residues, stumps, and large-sized (rotten) stemwood (Ylitalo 2012). Combined heat and power (CHP) and other large-scale facilities consumed 6.8 million m³ of wood chips, producing 13.7 TWh, while detached houses accounted for the production of 1.3 TWh (0.7 million m³). Approximately 45%, or 3.1 million m³ of the wood chips utilized in CHP facilities were derived from small-diameter forest stands which were processed from whole-trees, delimbed stemwood, and pulpwood where stem diameters at breast height (DBH) of removals are generally < 10 cm; 33% from logging residues comprising of branches and stem tops; 14% from stumps and root wood and 8% from large sized rotten stem wood (Ylitalo 2012).

Established targets in Finland look to increase the production of energy from wood chips by increasing forest chip production volumes reaching 8-12 million m^3 (16-24 TWh) by 2015 and a maximum of 13.5 million m³ (25 TWh) by 2020, which accounts for 84% of technically available forest chip production of 16 million m³ per annum (Helynen et al. 2007; Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2008a; Pekkarinen 2010). Alternate potential availability of forest chips based on the gross, techno-ecological, and techno-economic potentials in 2020 have been developed by Kärhä et al. (2010a). Following a base scenario where 57 million m^3 of pulpwood is produced, emission rights price of 30 \notin t CO₂, and subsidies for forest chips from small-diameter forest stands of 4 €MWh, the gross potential was estimated with logging residues and stumps of regeneration cuttings, as well as the cutting of whole trees from small-diameter forest stands providing a potential of 105 TWh (Kärhä et al. 2010a). The techno-ecological forest chip supply potential of 43 TWh was determined when following energy wood harvesting recommendations and utilization of integrated energy wood and pulpwood production when removals were greater than 20 m^{3} /ha, recovery of logging residues of 70%, 95% of whole trees from small-diameter stands, and 80-85% of stumps (Kärhä et al. 2010a). The techno-economical potential provided approximately 27 TWh, based on supply chain costs and material prices at gates of energy plants and pulpmills (Kärhä et al. 2010a).

Attaining estimated production volumes, however, requires increases in energy wood production levels from small-diameter forests effectively doubling or tripling current volumes (Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2010). Although increases in smalldiameter forest stands are feasible, based on different scenarios, a number of problematic issues tied to operational environment and supply chain operations exist when producing forest chips for energy production. The primary supply chains in the production of wood chips from small-diameter forest stands in Finland include: Terrain chipping, roadside chipping, terminal chipping, and chipping at plant with the primary differences between the system is the location of comminution and transportation of material as either uncomminuted or comminuted wood chips (Kärhä 2011a). Terrain chipping entails comminution at the harvesting site; Roadside chipping by either separate chipper and chip truck for transportation, or an integrated chipper and chip truck occurs along roadside forest landings where forest chips are then transported to the energy plant; Terminal chipping comminutes whole-trees or delimbed stemwood at a selected terminal and utilizes a selected mode of transportation (truck, train, or barge) in transporting the forest chips to the energy plant; Chipping at plant utilizes truck transportation of raw material as whole-trees or delimbed stemwood to the energy plant for comminution (Kärhä 2011a).

Roadside chipping has been the preferred forest chip supply chain from small-diameter forest stands, however in the future it has been estimated that chipping at plant and terminal chipping will increase their percentage shares as forest chip supply chains due to proximity and cost efficiency (Kärhä 2011a). As of 2012, it has been estimated that roadside chipping accounted for 72% of the forest chip production supply chains from small-diameter forests, decreasing 11% from the previous year. Terminal chipping increased from 8% in 2010 to 18% in 2012, while chipping at plant increased 3% to account for 10% of total supply chains of forest chips produced from small-diameter forest stands (Strandström 2012). Estimates of the percentage shares of supply chains of forest chips from small-diameter forests by 2025 place roadside chipping as the dominate supply chain, albeit with a reduced share of 55% of total production, while terminal chipping is predicted to be 17% and chipping at plant 28% of the procurement chain (Kärhä 2011a).

However, it should be noted that supply chain systems have individual costs and benefits reliant on a variety of factors including harvesting conditions, roadside storage capacities, transportation distances, CHP storage capacity, availability of production machinery, forest chip materials, production costs, and market prices which influence the selection of the supply chain system (Kärhä 2011a; Strandström 2012). With increased production volume of wood chips the need of additional machinery and further integration of forestry industry and energy production machinery is expected to increase (Asikainen 2004; Kärhä 2011a). It is expected that through integration further rationalization will encourage efficient working methods and technologies that may be optimized by maximizing volumes transported in the forest and during road or inter-modal transportation, while minimizing storage and waiting times (Kärhä 2011a).

The challenge in producing energy wood chips from small-diameter forest stands with DBH of removals (< 10 cm) is that total production costs often exceed the paying capability of buyers at energy facilities. High supply chain costs in relation to the market price of forest chips paid at the gate of energy facilities may be seen through the study of Laitila et al. (2010) where total supply chain costs based on a roadside chipping supply chain were approximately 49.1 Cm^3 (24.6 CMWh) utilizing a delimbed stemwood method, while whole-tree harvesting produced costs 15% lower at 41.8 Cm^3 (20.9 CMWh) at a DBH of removal of 8 cm with removals 28.7 m³/ha for delimbed stemwood and 41.3 m³/ha for whole-trees. However, the mean forest chip price paid upon delivery to energy plants within Finland between the first quarter of 2013 and the fourth quarter of 2013 varied approximately 18-19 CMWh (Metsälehti 2014).

Environment and operational research constraints

Small-diameter forest stands, which may generally be categorized as having stem size of removals (DBH) less than 10 cm (Ylitalo 2012) are prone to low removals per hectare, dense undergrowth, large proportions of remaining trees, difficult terrain, long forest

transportation distances, and unproductive sites on peat and mineral soils, resulting in lower productivity within cutting operations and higher supply chain costs (Oikari et al. 2010; Kärhä and Keskinen 2011). Quality requirements of pulpwood, although not static, limit the applicability of removals in small-diameter forest stands to primarily energy wood production by means of whole-tree (stems including branches) and delimbed stemwood (excluding branches).

Adverse effects from nutrient removals, however, may limit applicability of utilization of either whole-tree harvesting in favor of delimbed stemwood when decreases in nutrient levels are of concern on nutrient poor sites. Hakkila (2005) found whole-tree harvesting to increase removal of site nutrients by 50-150% when compared to delimbed stemwood, while Stupak et al. (2008) estimated nutrient removals to be 73-89% lower than that of whole tree harvesting in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.) stands. Although, decreases in nutrient removals may benefit future productivity of the site, the volume of removals decreased by an estimated 35-42% (Stupak et al. 2008) and 15-50% (Hakkila 2005), further hindering harvesting productivity (Hakkila 2005; Oikari et al. 2010). In a study by Heikkilä et al. (2007), nitrogen loss in particular was found to be negligible in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) stands when whole-tree harvesting was performed producing an on average and 10 year's growth decline of 5%, suggesting that when thinning in Scots pine stands in Finland efforts to minimize the effects of nutrient removals from whole-tree harvesting may not be necessary.

Within Finland two to three industrial roundwood thinnings generally occur prior to a final cutting. Based on targets from Finland's National Forest Program, active management of up to 250,000 hectares of small-diameter forest stands, 250,000 hectares of first thinnings, and 200,000 hectares of second thinnings should occur per year (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1999). Korhonen et al. (2007) suggest first thinnings of up to 300,000 hectares per year be implemented within the next decade. However, the average first thinnings in the 2000's have been approximately 190,000 hectares per year (~ 7 million m^3 /year) accounting for on average 14% of roundwood use within the domestic forest industry (Juntunen and Herrala-Ylinen 2010; Ylitalo 2010). In 2012 alone, first thinnings represented 10.9% of total industrial roundwood harvests, equating to a volume of first thinning removals of 3.98 million m^3 (Strandström 2013).

Without active management of small-diameter forest stands, or subsequent thinnings, reduced growth rates, raw material quality and value would occur and result in an economically unviable structure for industrial roundwood production (Varmola and Salminen 2004; Huuskonen and Hynynen 2006; Heikkilä et al. 2007). Energy wood production is often a secondary consideration when performing thinning operations in small-diameter stands, while the primary aim has been to enable adequate supply and quality of industrial roundwood in the future (Jylhä 2011).

The primary limiting factor in the production of energy from forest chips is the production at a viable and competitive cost with preconditions of the reduction of production costs, improved fuel and material quality, and reliable delivery systems (Hakkila 2006). Forest chip production from small-diameter forest stands primarily rely on the utilization of whole-tree or delimbed stemwood harvesting methods where the typical removals are 40-70 m³/ha with average stem sizes of 30-60 dm³. Delimbed stemwood removals are estimated to be generally 15-20% lower than that of whole-trees (Kärhä 2011a), but have also been estimated to be from 15-50% lower (Hakkila 2005, Stupak et al. 2008). Thinnings in small-diameter forest stands have early on been described as both a silvicultural and harvesting problem when trying to maximize the value of operational

revenues after costs and the value of the residual forest stand (Silversides and Sundberg 1988). This problem is particularly apparent within small-diameter forest stands as operational efficiency and production costs are directly associated with tree size and has been described as a classical challenge when examining the economics of operating in such conditions (Silversides and Sundberg 1988; Belbo 2010). Operational efficiency in forestry has been defined as both the utilization and economic management of the resource with values placed on outcomes (Silversides and Sundberg 1988). Productivity has been one defining metric when comparing machine technologies and working methods particularly in forest engineering research, while also providing a means to measure profitability (Haarlaa et al. 1984). Work studies including time and output studies measuring productivity, quantity per unit of output, have been central in analysis of many forest operation studies providing systematic analysis within the work process (Silversides and Sundberg 1988; Samset 1990; Lindroos 2010; Uusitalo 2010).

Within time studies, defined work elements of operations may be examined and work time recorded within each element to provide an aggregate, which may be measured against the output to produce a given productivity. Various forms of time studies have been developed within forest operations work studies. However, guidelines have been developed to create standards for time studies (Cost Action 2010), as displayed in Figure 1. Among time study methods utilized within forestry operations, comparative and correlation studies are largely utilized (Bergstrand 1987; Samset 1990) with differing objectives. Comparative studies aim to compare multiple machines or methods with other influences remaining static, while correlation studies describe the relationships between productivity and influencing factors (Lindroos 2010). However, combinations of the two are commonly utilized within studies occurring in forest environments prone to variability, so that stand conditions often characterized by average stem size (DBH) remain the same within the study for comparison (Lindroos 2010). Attaining accurate productivities is often difficult to



Figure 1. Adapted time study elements utilized in forest operation work studies (COST Action 2010).

achieve when acknowledging and discerning influencing factors occurring during the study (Mäkelä 1969, Samset 1990, Lindroos 2010, Purfürst and Erler 2011). Human factors alone can account for large variation in performance within time studies with operator variability found to account for 37.3% compared to environmental factors, such as tree volume accounting for 45.9% of variability when examining operator harvesting productivities under similar prescribed thinnings (Purfürst and Erler 2011).

Similarly, Kärhä et al. (2004) and Ovasikainen (2009) have found productivities of operators utilizing the same harvester to vary by up to 40%. Differences in productivities have also been assessed to be higher when operating in first thinnings compared to second thinnings (Kärhä et al. 2004) and could potentially be expressed by the relation between difficult (technical or environmental) conditions and the operator when examining productivities (Purfürst and Erler 2011). Operator blocking has been one statistical method to compensate for operator influence within comparative time studies and have commonly assumed: relative productivity between multiple work methods is independent of the operator when the same operator is utilized on all methods, productivity of one method may be anticipated on the basis of the operators productivity with another method, and that operator variation may be reduced when the same operator performs all methods analyzed (Lindroos 2010; Uusitalo 2010). However, on an individual level, blocking has not consistently proven to mitigate variability induced by the operator (Harstela 1988; Lindroos 2010) as opposed to utilization of blocking on a population level has shown operators responses to be similar albeit with large variations between individuals with homogeneity of demographic and operator experience (Lindroos 2010).

Performance ratings within correlation studies have also been utilized to reduce variability in measured productivities within time studies, although with measured trepidation as to the validity of the subjective method (Nordic agreement on...1978; Samset 1990; Samset 1992). Performance ratings within time studies that subjectively rate operator behaviour and output have been shown to correlate with long-term follow-up studies of time study outputs (Purfürst and Lindroos 2011). However, the correlation between the two also varied based on the evaluator, suggesting larger differences with wider variance in perceived normal work performance (Purfürst and Lindroos 2011). With large variations of performance with both methods on an individual level, applicability of the methods must be considered when identifying the objectives of the study (Purfürst and Lindroos 2011) and how the method may influence variation of measured productivities.

Technical development and economic considerations in energy wood production

When operation costs become too high, development of new machines and methods occurs, where work studies play a vital role in increasing operational efficiency and reducing costs (Samset 1990). With the mechanization process developing rapidly for energy wood operations over the past decade (Laitila 2012), a variety of technological and working method solutions have been developed to increase productivity and reduce operating costs within thinning operations. High harvesting costs, particularly cutting costs, from low removals and productivity often inhibit economic viability in small diameter forest stands (Kärhä 2011b). Utilization of single-tree handling alone in thinnings within small-diameter forest stands haven proven to be particularly difficult due to low removals, large volumes of under-utilized biomass and the low cutting productivity when felling single trees (Kärhä et al. 2010b).

Development of mechanized harvesting capable of multiple-tree handling (MTH) has improved productivity by reducing the number of grapple and boom movements required when compared to single tree handling (STH) (Lilleberg 1997; Brunberg 1998; Johansson and Gullberg 2002; Bergkvist 2003; Kärhä et al. 2005; Belbo 2011). When grapple and boom movements are simplified, reduction in felling and accumulation time consumption occurs within MTH (Johansson and Gullberg 2002). Increased productivity improvements through MTH have not only been limited to energy wood, but have been shown to increase productivity of pulpwood harvesting (Lehtimäki and Nurmi 2010). Multi-tree handling utilized within separate harvesting of pulpwood, whole-trees to be chipped for energy production, and delimbed stemwood for energy production has provided benefits through increased productivity and reduced operation costs. Individually each harvesting method presents challenges among which include: Applicability to sites where environmental constraints limit feasibility, low removals, utilization of pulpwood as a lower valued product, and high costs associated with either forwarding or transportation of material (Kärhä et al. 2010c). As energy wood may be harvested either in the form of delimbed or undelimbed material with harvesting solely for energy wood or in combination with industrial roundwood, MTH provides applicable benefits to both forest and energy industries. In particular, the flexibility in harvester heads capable of MTH limits the need to utilize separate grapples when harvesting both industrial roundwood and energy wood (Laitila 2012). The variety of felling heads such as those utilizing cutting blades, chain saw, circular saws, delimbing knives, and feed rollers are further improved upon by software optimizing harvesting allowing for bucking based on stem size, desired timber grade and include MTH optimizing software. Integration of both industrial roundwood production and energy wood, with the aim of reducing operational costs below that of separate procurement by increasing removals and cutting productivity has been one method to reduce costs and address some of the challenges of separate energy wood or pulpwood production. Integrated production of energy wood and pulpwood has been noted as developing due to the need of reducing harvesting costs, concerns over accumulation of logging residues on forest roads and landings, and the potential use of integrated harvesting to further assist in management of small-diameter forest stands (Hudson 1995). Increased utilization of MTH, chain flail and chipper systems, as well as the recognition of harvesting as part of the total supply chain system have led to the increased use and variety of integrated systems today (Hudson 1995).

One such system is integrated harvesting utilizing a two-pile method, where industrial roundwood and energy wood are stacked in two separate piles. Integrated harvesting under this method has previously been shown to reduce cutting costs to below those of the separate cutting of either pulpwood or energy wood based on whole-tree and delimbed stemwood for energy and forest product production (Heikkilä et al. 2005; Kärhä 2011b; Kärhä et al. 2011a). However, when examining the cost effectiveness of integrated production systems, availability of efficient harvesting systems, road accessibility and infrastructure within reasonable transportation distances, and regional market prices for raw material produced have been noted to influence the economic feasibility (Han et al. 2004; Di Fulvio and Bergström 2013). Cost pressures are particularly evident when integrated production leads to decreases in productivity in the harvesting of the higher valued industrial roundwood product (Conrad IV et al. 2013).

Productivity decreases of approximately 10% (Kärhä and Mutikainen 2008) and 35% (Di Fulvio and Bergström 2013) have been noted to occur when integrating the production of pulpwood and energy wood when compared to whole-tree cutting of energy wood

utilizing MTH. Decreases in productivity when compared to whole-tree cutting occurs due to the increased time of processing and piling timber assortments, as well as the advantage of increased biomass removals that are present in whole-tree harvesting (Di Fulvio and Bergström 2013). However, within harvesting systems, productivities achieved in thinnings are often correlated with site conditions such as stem size (DBH) of removal, density of removals (Belbo 2010; Belbo 2011; Di Fulvio et al. 2011), and initial stand densities (Di Fulvio and Bergström 2013). The integrated system has the flexibility to adjust shares of either product. For this reason, delimbing of stemwood is particularly appealing, especially when operating within stem size of removals that could be applicable for either energy wood or pulpwood production. When compared to whole-tree harvesting among small stem sizes, Heikkila et al. (2005) and Laitila et al. (2010) have noted the relative cost disadvantage from delimbing, but the disparity decreased with increasing stem size of removals. Combining of timber assortments, reducing the number of timber assortments to handle has also developed as a means to increase productivity within the two-machine (harvester and forwarder) system. Manner et al. (2013) have found that increasing the number of timber assortments increases loading and unloading times within forwarding. While Nurminen et al. (2006) and Brunberg and Arlinger (2001) have noted the ability of increasing the number of timber assortments to reduce productivity.

Variation in harvesting work methods and technology improvements in harvesting heads have not been the only technology developments related to energy wood supply chains. The increased use of timber measurement methods has developed with utilization of a myriad of measuring devices at different stages of the forest supply chain. Measuring systems include harvester measuring gauges, crane scales, timber pile measuring, individual log measuring, timber sampling, picture frame measuring, and weight bridges among others (Metla 2013). The goal of utilizing measuring systems has been to further integrate forest supply chains from felling of timber to delivery at receiving facilities, and in doing so increase efficiency and reduce costs within procurement (Siry et al. 2006; Melkas and Hämäläinen 2012; Verkasalo and Karvinen 2012). Efficiency within timber measurement equates to reducing variability within measurement accuracy of assortments being handled. Reducing variability in gross vehicle weight, maximizing the volume of allowable raw material has been noted to provide the maximum cost-effectiveness within transportation (Shaffer et al. 1987; Hamsely et al. 2007). Crane scales provide a means to both increase efficiency and integration (Hujo 2006) and have recently increased their presence and applicability as a measuring system utilized on forwarders and timber trucks and trailers (Melkas 2012). Crane scales are currently utilized as a means to determine timber mass, timber payments when weight bridges are unavailable, and payments to contractors, but also as a means to ensure efficient vehicle loading (Heikkilä et al. 2004; Siry et al. 2006; Verkasalo and Karvinen 2012). Accuracy of crane scales in the context of assortments and scale types have only recently been conducted (Hujo 2006; Iwarsson Wide and Jönsson 2012), but demonstrate a reliable measuring system capable of measuring energy wood, pulpwood, and logwood utilized in both energy and forest industries.

Cost considerations within operational research

Cost considerations play an important role in comparing and examining the implications of the effectiveness of different energy wood harvesting systems to be economically viable options. Examining costs in the context of integrated energy wood and pulpwood harvesting systems and supply chains, various costing systems exist. Puttock (1995) has noted two costing systems, which include marginal and joint costing. Marginal costs can be determined, where operation costs are allocated to the conventional product, such as pulpwood. Joint costing allocates costs of the operation based on the contribution of each product (Puttock 1995). Furthermore, costing can be examined through the ability to pay, such as wood paying capability (WPC) at a kraft pulp mill (Jylhä et al. 2010), as break even analyses examining net income delivered to roadside or gate of receiving facilities (Han et al. 2004; Di Fulvio et al. 2011; Conrad IV et al. 2013; Di Fulvio and Bergström 2013), or by examining harvesting or total supply chain costs among themselves (Kärhä 2011b; Kärhä et al. 2011b).

In the broad sense of operation estimating, determining cost has been noted as the primary objective (Ostwald 1992). Labor, engineering performance data, and time estimates for selected work elements are utilized in cost estimating by multiplying total time by a wage or productive hour cost (Ostwald 1992). Operation estimating allows for operation designs to be segmented into both physical and economic elements with the purpose of establishing cost components of a supply chain, while allowing for the possibility to initiate cost reductions, provide standards for production or control, and compare different designs (Ostwald 1992). Within forest operations, profitability of harvesting systems is determined through unit costing derived from hourly productivity established through time studies and hourly operating costs (Uusitalo 2010). Unit costs of machines utilized in forest operations may be determined based as functions of a predetermined output, such as area of operation, total volume, transportation distance, ect. (Harstela 1993). Fixed and variable costs based on time and productivity estimations, as well as initial capital costs of the machine are utilized to determine cost of machinery operation. Fixed costs comprise of interest, depreciation and insurance, labor, and expenses accrued due to work organization and management, while variable costs include fuel, lubricants, repair and maintenance, work and travel compensations through wages and allowances (Harstela 1993; Uusitalo 2010). Variability within the cost structure is introduced due to estimates on factors including machine availability and utilization rates, depreciation periods, applied interest rates, labor, and overhead costs utilized when determining fixed and variable costs (Harstela 1993; Uusitalo 2010). Assumptions are required within many aspects of cost estimating, which in turn limit the ability in determining the actual operation costs when examining systems where the entirety of specific machine performance and economic variables are not available. Belbo (2011) has noted the potential of assumptions such as economic life span, variation in wear and tear on machinery, and moving costs of machinery as assumptions with the potential to reduce accuracy of the cost estimate. Furthermore, cost estimations and components of estimations of machinery operations utilized within supply chains can be based on previously performed studies, inventory data, or road transportation networks to elucidate the potential costs associated when combining cost components of a supply chain, i.e. harvesting, forwarding, transportation, as in studies of Latila (2008), Laitila et al. (2010), Ringdahl et al. (2012), Kärhä et al. (2011b).

OBJECTIVES

This dissertation looks to incorporate findings of the research conducted in papers (I-IV) by focusing on aspects from harvesting of small-diameter trees to delivery at gate of either pulp mill or energy facilities, providing a system analysis approach to aspects of the whole supply chain. The objective of the dissertation is to identify means to increase efficiency of small-diameter energy wood operations by identifying optimal methods, technologies, and policy that may be applied and in turn increase efficiency, reliability, and reduce costs.

The framework of the dissertation utilizes the applied analytical methods within conducted research in papers (I-IV) to rationalize various aspects of small-diameter energy wood supply chains by focusing on areas where efficiency improvements are shown to improve the economic feasibility of energy wood production. The term, rationalization, is used in the context of applying the principles of scientific management to operations to achieve the desired result of increased efficiency. Efficiency improvements presented as research topics are combined to describe areas where the rationalization process throughout supply chain, from cutting to delivery, produces the desired effect. The objectives of the individual studies (I-IV) were defined as:

- Compare the total production costs of forest chips utilizing whole-tree harvesting of small-diameter forest stands with and without subsidies offered for the production of forest chips in Finland, while presenting the effects of variable levels of subsidies provided in the Kemera subsidy system and the ramifications of future policy changes. (Paper I).
- 2) Determine the productivity in harvesting separate and integrated energy wood and pulpwood systems and to compare the costs of selected systems based on stand conditions and cutting system techniques employed in the harvesting of both energy wood and pulpwood. (Paper II).
- 3) Evaluate the influences of pulpwood and delimbed stemwood cutting systems and subsidies offered for energy wood on total supply chain costs and profitability of integrated energy wood and pulpwood production. (Paper III).
- 4) Determine the accuracy of crane scale measurements of combined timber truck and trailer and forwarders within Finland when following calibration guidelines by measurements as a whole, by scale manufacturer, measuring principle, timber assortment, time period, and contractors utilized in timber procurement within Finland; Secondly, to quantify the economic importance of crane scale accuracy in energy wood and industrial roundwood procurement through reliability and costs when compared to manual timber pile measurement. (Paper IV).

When combining papers (I-IV), rationalization of forest chip supply chain operations from small-diameter forest stands were demonstrated through: 1) Policy implications in relation to supply chain costs and profitability of harvesting in small-diameter forest stands covered in papers (I and III); 2) Harvesting technologies and operational methods, which increase productivity and cost-efficiency examined in papers (II and III); 3) Integrated energy wood

and pulpwood supply chains and their implications in increasing profitability covered in papers (II and III); 4) crane scale accuracy and economic importance of material measurement in forest industry procurement is elucidated in paper (IV).

MATERIALS

Forest operation time study data

Continuous time studies of cutting operations of separate and integrated pulpwood and energy wood operations as delimbed stemwood were performed in papers II and III with each study conducting time studies on six different cutting methods. Time studies were conducted on plots with areas varying between .49-.54 ha (paper II) and .13-.26 ha plots (paper III) on forest stands with relatively level terrain, high bearing capacity, and no foreign obstacles, such as rocks interfering with cutting and forwarding work. The breast height diameter (DBH) of removal and the number of stems felled were manually recorded during processing, while stem volumes were determined with the volume functions of Laasasenaho (1982). Densities of remaining trees within the study plots were inventoried after cutting operations with two inventory plots with a width of 20 meters and length of 10 meters on each study plot (Paper II) and with four circle inventory plots (r = 3.99 m) on each study plot (Paper III). Statistical comparisons of the stand conditions study plots for paper II and III were performed on the stem size (DBH) of removals (cm) and the volume of removals (dm³) from each study plot utilizing SPSS statistical v. 20 statistical software through comparison of standard deviations, analysis of variance (ANOVA) including a Tamhane's post hoc test, and robust equality of means tests based on cutting methods.

The continuous time studies segmented the work cycles into: Moving; Boom-out, felling, delimbing, cross cutting, and collecting; Separating fractions into assorted piles; Miscellaneous; and Delays. When determining effective time consumption, stem processing times were calculated as the work cycle elements of boom-out, felling, delimbing, cross cutting and collecting, and separating fractions into assorted piles. Stem processing times per stem were determined for single and multi-tree handling by dividing stem processing time by the number of stems present per handling. Weights were assigned based on the number of stems within the collected bunch during handling and through a weighted nonlinear least squares regression, observations with higher weights were assigned greater importance within the regression procedure. Stem processing times dependent on the stem size (DBH) of removal were modeled with the SAS statistical package through the NLIN procedure (paper II) and with SPSS v. 20 statistical software in paper III. Moving times were calculated from the mean moving times and removals (trees/ha) based on the selected cutting methods in papers II and III and modeled through regression analysis as a function of the density of removals (trees/ha) utilizing SPSS v. 20 statistical software, while miscellaneous times were calculated from the mean miscellaneous times of each cutting method in paper II and the aggregate miscellaneous time for each cutting method in paper III.

Within paper II, time studies were conducted based on the following cutting methods and assortments and pile fractions:

- 1) Pulpwood utilizing single-tree handling with stem DBH of 7-17cm; three fractions separated by species (**Pulpwood, STH**).
- 2) Pulpwood utilizing multi-tree handing with stem DBH of 7-17cm; three fractions separated by species (**Pulpwood**, **MTH**).
- 3) Integrated harvesting of pulpwood and delimbed energy wood with stem DBH of 5-17cm; utilization of multi-tree handling with stems < 10 cm DBH and single-tree handling with stems ≥ 10 cm; pulpwood sorted into three fractions by species and one fraction for energy wood (**Integrated**, 10 cm).
- 4) Integrated harvesting of pulpwood and delimbed energy wood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; pulpwood sorted into three fractions by species and one fraction for energy wood (**Integrated**).
- 5) Delimbed stemwood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; three fractions by species (**Delimbed stemwood, MTH, SF**).
- 6) Delimbed stemwood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; combined fractions (**Delimbed stemwood, MTH, CF**).

The time studies of paper II were conducted in Eastern Finland, near the city of Leppävirta $(62^{\circ}30^{\circ}N, 27^{\circ}47^{\circ}E)$ on forests of Metsähallitus (State Forest Enterprise). A Ponsse Ergo harvester weighing approximately 19 tonnes with an attached Ponsse H7 harvester head (~1.2 tonnes) and Ponsse C4 crane of 10 meters was utilized in the time study. Multi-tree handling was conducted by Ponsse's OptiWin 4.602 information system software by a multi-tree handling control procedure. The operator had considerable (> 10 years) experience in harvesting work concerning thinning operations and a half year of experience in integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting. When utilizing multi-tree handling in pulpwood cutting, however, the operator was limited in experience (< 2 months). Pine and spruce pulpwood and all delimbed stemwood stems were processed at lengths of 2.7-5.0 m, while birch pulpwood was processed at 2.9-3.0 m. The minimum top diameters varied by assortment and species with the minimum top diameter of pine and birch pulpwood at 6 cm, spruce pulpwood at 7 cm, and delimbed stemwood varying between 2-3 cm.

A Ponsse Buffalo forwarder utilizing a Ponsse LoadOptimizer v.1.2.2 crane scale was utilized in the forest haulage of cut wood, which was performed in separate loads for each time study plot. The mass of timber was measured by crane scale and converted into volume (m³) utilizing green density functions of the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (2010) and Lindblad et al. (2010), which include: pine pulpwood: 930 kg/m³; spruce pulpwood: 846 kg/m³; birch pulpwood: 889 kg/m³; delimbed stemwood of combined species (pine, spruce, and birch): 900 kg/m³. In total, approximately 3,313 stems were processed in the time study among the six cutting methods with a total volume of 210 m³. Of the six cutting methods, the average density of removal was 1,045 (stem/ha), stem size (DBH) of removal 10.9 cm, and removal of 67 m³/ha. Harvested species were made up of approximately 47% Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.), 38% Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), and 15% deciduous, which were almost exclusively birch (*Betula pubescens*).

In paper III, the time studies were conducted with the following cutting methods, assortments, and pile fractions:

- 1) Pulpwood utilizing single-tree handling with stem DBH of 7-17cm; three fractions based on species (**Pulpwood, STH**).
- 2) Pulpwood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 7-17cm; three fractions based on species (**Pulpwood, MTH**).

- 3) Integrated pulpwood and delimbed energy wood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; pulpwood fraction as a separate pile than energy wood (**Integrated**).
- 4) Delimbed stemwood utilizing single-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; combined fractions (**Delimbed stemwood, STH, CF**).
- 5) Delimbed stemwood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; combined fractions (**Delimbed stemwood, MTH, CF**).
- 6) Delimbed stemwood utilizing multi-tree handling with stem DBH of 5-17cm; three fractions based on species (**Delimbed stemwood, MTH, SF**).

The time studies of paper III were conducted in a first thinning on forest stands located in proximity to Savonlinna (61°52 N, 28°53 E) in Eastern Finland. The studies were conducted with a Valmet 901.4 harvester weighing approximately 14,490 kg and a Valmet 350.1 harvester head (~1,000 kg) with a CRH-15 crane of 10 meters. Multi-tree handling was conducted by software utilizing a MaxiXplorer control and information system. The harvester operator held 12 years of experience working with thinning operations and 8 months experience in delimbed stemwood cutting, however, did not have previous experience utilizing integrated cutting. Stems were processed to lengths (m) and minimum top diameters (cm) by assortment. Pine and spruce pulpwood was cut to lengths of 2.7-4.5 m, birch pulpwood from 2.7-3.0 m, and delimbed stemwood, while pine pulpwood was 6 cm, spruce pulpwood 7 cm, and birch pulpwood 5 cm in diameter.

A Valmet 830.3 forwarder (~10,500 kg) conducted forest haulage, performing separate loads for each study plot. Timber weight, measured by a Komatsu crane scale, was converted into volume (m^3) applying green density factors of the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (2010) and Lindblad et al. (2010): Pine pulpwood: 954 kg/m³; spruce pulpwood: 869 kg/m³; birch pulpwood: 917 kg/m³; delimbed softwood: 930 kg/m³; delimbed hardwood 900 kg/m³. In the time studies of the six cutting methods, 1,875 stems were processed with Scots pine accounting for 47%, Norway spruce 7%, and birch 51% of the total removals. The total volume of timber removed was 110 m³ with an average density of 1,948 stems/ha, stem size (DBH) of removal of 12 cm, and roundwood removal of 109 m³/ha.

Crane scale measurement data

Crane scale measurement data from timber truck and trailers and forwarders based on delivery information of companies within the Finnish Forest Industries Federation for the time period of 2011-2012 was utilized to determine crane scale, or loader scale accuracy within paper IV. The paper includes two crane scale measurement studies segmented into 1) Timber truck and trailer crane scale measurement data, and 2) Forwarder crane scale measurement data. Average differences and standard deviations of observations were utilized measure accuracy of defined categories including the whole data sets and weight classifications, scale manufacturer, measuring principle, time period, timber assortments of pulpwood and logwood, and contractors.

Timber truck and trailer recorded load weight data entries totalling 65,131 observations within 2011 were collected from operative data from crane scale load and weigh bridge weightings in Finland via shareholders of Metsäteho Ltd. Recorded weightings were

determined by timber transportation contractors and receiving customers at pulp and saw mills utilizing loader scales and weigh bridges. Recorded data for each observation consisted of: Delivery date, pulp or saw mill name, timber assortment, scale model or manufacturer, identification of contractor, loader scale weight (kg), and weigh bridge weight (kg). Outliers from the observations were filtered by means of a 99% confidence interval, where 64,479 observations were then utilized within the accuracy study. The average load size of truck and trailers within the study was 26,891 kg with load sizes varying between 50-55,000 kg. Average weight at delivery was 26,910 kg with weights varying between 50-50,760 kg. Timber deliveries were performed on average 46 times among the 322 contractors identified in the study.

Observations were taken throughout the year and time periods were allocated into quarters with the percentage share of observations as: Q1: 28.7%; Q2: 26.1%; Q3: 22.1%; Q4: 23.1%. Timber assortments of pulpwood and logwood were utilized within the study, while energy wood assortments were excluded due relatively small amount of data. Pulpwood and logwood accounted for 90.7% and 9.3% of the observations, respectively. Reported crane scale manufacturer and models were used to identify scale manufacturers, which consisted of five sets of accuracy calculations by manufacturer. Scale manufacturers and model years included: Epec LoadOptimizer (1995, 1999, 2001-2012), Loadmaster 2000 (2000, 2002-2012), Loadmaster Multi (2008-2011), Tamtron (2007-2008, 2011-2012), TB (2002, 2005). Scale manufacturers, identified by an assigned letter held percentage shares of: A: 15.9%; B: 22.4%; C: 46.4%; D: 14.9%; E: 0.3%. Utilization of a hydraulic measuring principle occurred in 84.1% of the crane scales, while strain gauge measuring was identified in 15.9% of the scales.

Within the second study of paper IV, forwarder crane scale measurement data from weekly monitoring of measurement accuracy of forwarders equipped with crane scales utilized in timber procurement was collected from January 2011 through June 2012 in Finland from members of the Finnish Forest Industries through Metsäteho Ltd. Recorded measurement data of scale model and manufacturer, measuring principle of the scale, contractor identification, test dates, control lifts, control weight (kg), and the loader scale recorded weight (kg) were taken for each of the 2,990 observations to determine accuracy. Duplicate data and observations where repeated test lifts deviated from the recommended 20 lifts of a control weight when performing scale accuracy checks were filtered from the data set bringing the total observations utilized within the study to 2,010. The average mass of the control weights (kg) was 453 kg with observed weights between 242-840 kg. Test weightings, measured by the control weight and number of repeated control weights varied from 4,840-16,800 kg with an average of 9,052 kg. Recorded loader scale weights were between 4,801-17,258 kg with an average of 9,054 kg. An average of 12.7 test weightings occurred among the 158 contractors identified within the study.

Similar to the truck and trailer data, test weighting time periods were recorded quarterly (Q1-Q4) with 23.4% of the observations falling within Q1, 35.4% in Q2, 26.9% in Q3, and 14.3% within Q4. Six crane scale manufacturers were utilized in the study and included: John Deere, Komatsu, Loadmaster, Mecanil, Ponsse, and Tamtron. Manufacturers were designated by an assigned letter within the study and included the following with their percentage share of the observations: G: 13.6%; H: 17%; I: 32.9%; J: 5%; K: 30.8%; L: 0.7%. Measuring principles identified by the crane scale manufacturer, including strain gauge and hydraulic pressure measuring principles were recorded with strain gauge measuring for 49.4% of the observations and hydraulic pressure 50.6% of the observations within the forwarder monitoring accuracy study.

Cost data

Cost parameters utilized in papers I, II, III, and IV allowed for cost estimations and comparison between various systems throughout the studies.

Within paper I, aggregate supply chain costs were determined from the relationship betwen stem size of removals and density of removals utilized in a study of Kärhä (2011b). Predetermined costs of components included financial incentives, comminution, storage, and overhead costs. Financial incentives provided through the Kemera subsidies were determined by Finnish law statutes (2007) and implementation described by the Forestry Development Center Tapio (2008; 2010) and included: I. Subsidy for thinning in young stands, II. Subsidy for small-sized energy wood harvesting, III. Subsidy for chipping, IV. Subsidy for providing work clarification. Comminution and storage costs were derived from the studies of Kärhä et al. (2009; 2010b), while an estimation of overheads utilized in industrial roundwood consumption in 2009 was derived from Kariniemi (2010).

Costs represented as functions of stem size of removal, volume of removals, and transportation distance estimated through cost functions were utilized in determining selected costs of the supply chain and included: Stumpage, cutting, forwarding, and transportation cost functions. Stumpage prices were determined as a function of stem size of removals applied in Kärhä (2011b). Cutting costs were determined by dividing the estimated hourly costs per productive machine hour including < 15 minute time delays (PMH₁₅) by time consumption functions derived from models of Kärhä et al. (2006), Kärhä and Mutikainen (2008), and Kärhä (2011b). Cutting costs were modeled as a function of the stem size of removal (DBH). Forwarding costs were determined by dividing the estimated hourly costs of a forwarder with a carrying capacity of 10-12 tons (Kärhä 2006; Kärhä 2007) by forest haulage time consumption within the study of Kärhä et al. (2006) and assumed a load size of 6.5 m³ and forest haulage distance of 300 m. Transportation costs assumed a chip truck load size of 42.5 m³ (Kärhä et al. 2009), while hourly machine costs were based on the Truck Transportation Model of Metsäteho (Metsäteho 2010), estimating variable and fixed costs contributing to hourly machine costs. Costs were determined as a function of transportation distance.

Within papers II and III, total harvesting costs including cutting and forwarding costs were determined as a function of stem size of removal (DBH) in cutting, while forwarding costs were modeled as a function of pulpwood and energy wood (delimbed stemwood) removals (m^3/ha). Cutting costs were based on the productivity functions derived from the time studies of paper II and III, while time and productivity functions of pulpwood and delimbed stemwood forest haulage were based on models of Kärhä et al. (2006). Time consumption models for the medium sized forwarder utilized in the pulpwood forwarding costs assumed a carrying capacity of 11-13 tones, a load size of 11 m³, and forest haulage distance of 300 meters, while integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods with energy wood removals utilized a smaller load size of 8.6 m³ (Kärhä et al. 2011c; Perho 2012). Operating costs included time dependent, fixed, and variable operating costs and were estimated utilizing the Forest Machine Cost Calculation Program of Metsäteho Oy and was utilized in determining hourly machine costs of the medium-sized harvester and forwarder within the studies (Metsäteho 2012a).

Additional supply chain cost components within paper III included: Stumpage, transportation, comminution, overheads, and incentives. Stumpage prices were determined

as a function of stem size for the removals based on the shares of pulpwood and energy fractions. Transportation costs of pulpwood, delimbed stemwood, and wood chips were estimated utilizing the Truck Transportation Model of Metsäteho Oy (Metsäteho 2012b) utilizing estimates of transportation times, fixed, and variable costs. Estimates of unit costs of comminution at roadside and at energy facilities were estimated based on Strandström (2012) and Hautala (2011). Overheads were determined by the average overhead costs of industrial roundwood production of the Finnish Forest Industries and Metsähallitus (Strandström 2013). Applied subsidies in paper (III) varied from paper (I), as a reorganization of subsidies offered for the production of combined heat and power occurred and will be implemented in 2015 and included an area based subsidy and a subsidy paid to heat and power facility operators after comminution (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2012).

Within paper IV, measuring system costs of a manual timber pile measurement system and the crane scale system were compared based on three working volume scenarios measuring volumes 20,000, 25,000, and 30,000 m³/year. Fixed and variable costs of both crane scale and manual timber pile measurement systems were estimated from expert opinions (Poikela 2013), while time consumption for crane scale measurement assumed a 42 week working year with machine calibration and reported estimated to 45 and 5 minutes respectively. The manual timber pile measurement system assumed roadside storage piles of 200 m³ with the estimated total time consumption of 1.2 hours per storage pile. Total time consumption included 0.7 hours/pile of driving time assuming the distance of 40km/pile, while measuring was estimated at 0.5 hours/pile.

METHODS

Effective time and productivity with analysis

Through time studies in papers II and III, effective time and productivity of cutting methods were established and applied to determine harvesting costs of cutting methods used within both studies. Total effective time was based on the time consumptions identified from work elements of the continuous time study, which included: Moving; boom-out, felling, delimbing, cross cutting, and collecting; Separating timber fractions; Miscellaneous time; and delays. When calculating effective time consumptions, work elements were further classified into stem processing time, moving time, and miscellaneous time elements of which, the aggregate time provided the total effective time, as displayed in Equation 1. Stem processing times were modeled as a function the stem size (DBH) of removal varying between 5-17 cm, moving times were modeled as a function of removal (trees/ha), while miscellaneous time was determined by dividing the total miscellaneous time by the number of stem processing within each of the cutting methods (paper III) and an average of the cutting methods in paper II. To determine the effective productivity, the total effective times classified by stem size (DBH) of removal, were converted into a productive volume per hour measured as the productive machine hour (m^3/PMH_0) , excluding delays (Equation 2).

$$TEc = PTc + Mc + MS \tag{1}$$

where TE = total effective time (seconds/stem), PT = stem processing time (seconds/stem) and M = moving time (seconds/stem) for cutting method c; MS = miscellaneous time.

$$Pc = \frac{(3600)}{(TEc*1000/Vc)}$$
(2)

where Pc = effective productivity (m³/PMH₀), TEc = total effective time (seconds/stem) and Vc = volume of removal (dm³/tree) for cutting method c.

Operative productivities (m^3/PMH_{15}), including delay times < 15 minutes were determined by dividing measured effective productivities (m^3/PMH_0) by a previously estimated coefficient (1.393) utilized to convert effective productivity into an operative productivity within thinning operations, as utilized by Kärhä et al. (2004) and displayed in Equation 3.

$$POc = PEc * D \tag{3}$$

where POc = opperative productivity (m³/PMH₁₅) and PEc = effective productivity (m³/PMH₀) for cutting method *c*; D = delay coefficient (delay times shorter than 15 minutes).

Operative productivities of cutting methods were estimated at stem sizes (DBH) of removals between 5-17 cm. Regression analyses using SPSS v. 20 statistical software were performed on each cutting method to ascertain productivity functions utilized in determining cutting costs (Paper II). Within papers II and III, statistical analysis of stem processing times, moving times, and productivities were determined through one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests to determine differences between cutting methods.

Crane scale accuracy and analysis

Accuracy of crane scale measurement was determined in paper IV, where the truck and trailer and forwarder monitoring tests observations were utilized to determine accuracy of the measured weights following recommended crane scale calibration and adjustment guidelines (Metsäteho 2011). Accuracy calculations, as measured by the percent difference of timber truck and trailer scale were determined as the percentage share of the measured difference between the loader scale weight (kg) and weigh bridge weight (kg) divided by the weigh bridge weight (kg).

Measured accuracy of timber truck and trailers is determined by Equation 4, as shown in paper IV and derived from loader scale calibration and adjustment guidelines (Metsäteho 2011):

$$Td = \frac{(LSt - Wb)}{Wb} * 100 \tag{4}$$

where Td = timber truck difference (%), LSt = timber truck loader scale weight (kg), and Wb = weigh bridge weight (kg).

Accuracy calculations within forwarder monitoring of test weightings, as measured by the percent difference were derived as a percentage from the difference between the loader scale weight (kg) and the control weight (kg) multiplied by the number of repeated lifts and divided by the sum of the control weight (kg) multiplied by the number of repeated lifts.

Measured accuracy of forwarder crane scale during monitoring check were based on the loader scale calibration and adjustment guidelines (Metsäteho 2011) and is determined by Equation 5, as displayed in paper IV:

$$Fd = \frac{(LSf - (C_W * Nl))}{(C_W * Nl)} *100$$
(5)

where Fd = forwarder difference (%), LSf = forwarder loader scale weight (kg), Cw = control weight (kg), and Nl = number of repeated lifts.

Comparisons of the accuracy results were determined by the average differences and their standard deviations of the measured variables within each category, while comparison of the accuracy results against standards for compliance, requiring accuracy within $\pm 4\%$ difference (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2008b) were conducted by identifying the percentage share of observations within a $\pm 4\%$ difference. To identify possible statistical differences among the categories within the specified variable, statistical analyses with SPSS v. 20 statistical software was conducted. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to identify any statistical differences among scale manufacturers and quarters with a post hoc test selected to account for unequal variances and sample sizes of the categories, while independent samples Welch's t-tests were utilized to measure statistical differences of the reported accuracies by measuring principle, timber assortments, and contractors. Additionally, regression analyses were performed on the absolute mean accuracies of observations classified by loader scale weight to identify correlations between average accuracy and loader scale weight classifications.

Supply chain costs and profitability

Costs of performing operations in small-diameter forest stands were calculated by examining the total harvesting costs (papers II and III), total supply chain costs (papers I and III), and measuring system costs (paper IV) within the papers contributing to this study. Additionally, profitability was examined in papers I and III.

Harvesting costs in papers II and III were determined by the aggregate cost of cutting and forwarding operations. Cutting costs, based on the stem size (DBH) of removal, were determined by dividing estimated machine operating cost by the operative productivity (m^3/PMH_{15}) derived from the effective productivity (m^3/PMH_0) of the cutting methods from Equation 2 and adjusted into an operative productivity. Forwarding costs were estimated with cost functions as a function of removals (m^3/ha) derived from forwarding time consumption models of Kärhä et al. (2006) and estimated machine operating costs within the study. Total supply chain costs from harvesting to delivery at the gate of energy plants and pulp mills were determined in papers I and III. Total supply chain costs were calculated as the aggregate costs of the components of the supply chain, which included: Stumpage price, cutting cost, forwarding cost, comminution cost, storage cost, road transportation cost, and overhead cost. Variation in supply chains was accounted for by the different supply chains utilized within papers I and III. Within paper I, the whole-tree harvesting of energy wood was performed utilizing roadside chipping. Total supply chain costs of paper III utilized the integrated production of pulpwood and delimbed stemwood with supply chains split between roadside chipping and chipping at plant. Measuring system costs were determined in paper IV, by the estimated operating costs of a crane scale system and the manual timber pile measurement system divided by the estimated time consumption of measurement operations on three separate working volumes in a year.

System profitability was determined by two methods in paper I and III: 1). Examining total production costs dependent on stem size (DBH) of removals against raw material market prices minus the allocation of real and variable levels of subsidies provided under the Kemera incentive system (paper I); 2). Determining the gross profit margins associated with different harvesting systems under roadside chipping and chipping at plant supply chains. Gross profit margin was determined by dividing gross income with and without allocated PETU incentives (revenue – total supply chain costs) by their calculated revenues and was represented as a percentage share (paper III).

RESULTS

Harvesting technologies and operation methods

Harvesting technologies and operation methods utilized within papers II and III to a large degree, focused on the utilization of multi-tree handling technology, delimbed stemwood recovery, and reduction of timber assortments as a means to increase productivity and reduce costs.

Utilization of multi-tree handling occurred in five of the six cutting methods in paper II varying from 64-83%. Within paper III, MTH was utilized in four of the six cutting methods with utilization varying between 17-74%. The variation of processed stems utilizing multi-tree handling was between 1-5 stems per handling with an average bunch size of 1.77 stems in paper II, while within paper III the variation of processed stems was slightly higher at 1-7 stems per handling with an average bunch size of 1.4 stems. Average bunch sizes were found to be highest within the delimbed stemwood cutting methods utilizing separate fractions at 2.1 stems (paper II) and 1.9 stems per bunch (paper III). Within the time studies, stem processing times were found to be statistically significant ($p \le 1$) .05) when dependent of the stem size (DBH) of removals varying between 5-17 cm and by cutting methods utilized within the studies of paper II and III. Processing times by cutting methods varied due to the cutting method, when assuming reasonable comparability based on standard deviations of the average volume of removal and average stem size of removal. Time consumption of the pulpwood cutting methods utilizing MTH were 3-8% higher (paper II) and 2-19% lower (paper III) than that of pulpwood applying single-tree handling. Integrated cutting methods were approximately at the same level as the pulpwood MTH method in paper II. With DBH of removals between 5-17 cm, the integrated (10 cm) method and delimbed stemwood method with combined fractions were found to have processing times 4-10% higher per handled stem than that of the pulpwood STH method (paper II). Within paper III the integrated cutting time consumption were found to be 14-15% higher than the pulpwood STH method and held the highest time consumption of the methods analyzed. Of the delimbed stemwood methods, combining fractions reduced processing time consumption by 1-8% (paper II) and approximately 9-11% (paper III) at a DBH of removal of 5-17 cm. The delimbed stemwood method with combined fractions was found to have the lowest processing time within paper III of the integrated and delimbed stemwood methods analyzed and was 9-14% lower than the pulpwood method employing single-tree handling.

Large variations in productivities were found to exist between integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods when compared to the cutting of pulpwood, combined and separate fractions, and by the stem size (DBH) of removal. Relative differences in effective productivities are displayed through selected cutting methods of paper II and III (cf. Figure 1-2). Within paper II, productivities varied between 3.2-27.9 m³/PMH₀ (2.4-20.1 m^{3}/PMH_{15}), while productivities were found to vary from 2.0-25.8 m^{3}/PMH_{0} (2.8-35.9 m^{3}/PMH_{15}) in paper III. Large differences in productivities of pulpwood and the combined integrated and delimbed stemwood methods were found to occur when stem size of removal (DBH) was below 11 cm. Decreasing the stem size (DBH) of removal, productivities were found to increase when compared to pulpwood utilizing single-tree handling with productivities of integrated and delimbed stemwood increasing from 4-121% (paper II) and up to 168% (paper III) greater than pulpwood (STH) with decreases in stem sizes from 15 cm to 7 cm. When comparing productivities of the pulpwood methods, the pulpwood MTH method was found to have productivities varying from 2% higher to 7% lower (paper II) and 11-25% higher (paper III) than that of the pulpwood method utilizing STH.



Figure 2. Relative productivity differences established when analyzing selected pulpwood and delimbed stemwood methods (paper II).



Figure 3. Relative productivity differences established when analyzing selected pulpwood and delimbed stemwood methods (paper III).

Comparing the effect of MTH on delimbed stemwood methods in paper III, increases in productivity from 3-14% were identified when examining the delimbed stemwood methods (MTH) and (STH) with combined fractions. Utilizing combined fractions instead of separate fractions when harvesting delimbed stemwood was also found to increase productivities by 1-8% (paper II) and 8-11% (paper III), especially in smaller stem sizes, where stem size (DBH) of removal varied between 5-17 cm. Differences in harvesting costs, comprised of cutting and forwarding costs, attributed to increased productivities through utilization of multi-tree handling, delimbed stemwood removal in integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods, and decreasing the number of timber fractions. Additionally, harvesting costs were modeled as a function of stem size and reliant on the stated removals of energy wood and pulpwood fractions utilized in papers II and III. Cutting costs of the selected methods varied between 3.6-30.0 \$/m³ (2.8-23.1 €m³ (assuming: 1USD:0.77 EUR)) in paper II and 2.6-33.4 €m³ within paper III based on stem size (DBH) of removals between 5-17 cm. Forwarding costs accounted for a smaller cost share comparatively and were between 4.7-5.3 \$/m³ (3.6-4.1 €m³ (assuming: 1USD:0.77 EUR)) (paper II) and 6.1-6.8 \notin m³ in paper III.

When examining the ability of harvesting systems to reduce costs, multi-tree handling of pulpwood compared to single-tree cutting of pulpwood was found to account for a reduction in harvesting costs by 1.5% at a DBH of removal at 7 cm, while increasing harvesting costs by up to 3.4% at 17 cm (paper II). Within paper III, pulpwood harvesting utilizing multi-tree handling was found to reduce harvesting costs by approximately 7.4-9.3% when compared to the single-tree handling method at a DBH of removal between 7-17 cm. The largest reductions in harvesting costs when compared to pulpwood harvesting with single-tree harvesting were found to occur when utilizing integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods with reductions in costs from 0.1-44.0% (paper II) and 8.7-52.4% in paper III with the stem size (DBH) of removal varying between 7-17 cm. Within paper III, the delimbed stemwood method with combined fractions and MTH displayed harvesting costs 0.8-10.1% lower than that of the same method utilizing STH. Further reductions were identified when combining timber assortments within the same fraction, rather than separately. At a stem size (DBH) of removal between 5-17 cm, combining

fractions attributed to reductions in harvesting costs from 1.5-4.3% (paper II) and 2.2-8.2% (paper III).

Accuracy and economic importance of crane scale measurement

Crane scale measurement accuracy and the cost implications of utilizing a crane scale measurement system were addressed in paper IV with the focus of determining accuracy and costs of crane scaling systems utilized in timber trucks and trailers, as well as forwarders utilized in timber procurement within Finland. When determining accuracy of timber truck and trailers and the forwarder crane scales through equations (1) and (2), forwarder crane scale accuracy was found to be higher than that of timber truck and trailer loader scales through the study (paper IV). The higher accuracy was, however, attributed to the difference between crane scales utilized in an operational environment, as the timber truck and trailer data compared to a controlled environment as the forwarding accuracy monitoring tests were.

Calculated accuracies based on the whole data sets were performed. The timber truck and trailer loader scale data displayed a negative average difference of -0.04% and a standard deviation of 4.27% with approximately 81.4% of the observations falling within the recommended \pm 4% average difference limit, while 96.7% of the observations fell within an accuracy of \pm 10%. Forwarder loader scales displayed an average difference of 0.02% with a standard deviation of 1.43% and found 99.2% of recorded observation accuracies within \pm 4% and 99.8% within \pm 10%.

Crane scale weight classifications identified within the study were found to have a statistically significant ($p \le .05$) effect on average errors when comparing crane scale weights in timber truck and trailers of < 10,000 kg and 10,000 - 30,000 kg (p = .016). When expanding weight classifications to increments of 5,000 kg in timber truck and trailer and 1,000 kg increments in forwarder observations, correlations were found to exist between accuracy measured by the average difference and loader scale weights identified strong correlations (R^2 = .87) for truck and trailer data and forwarder data (R^2 = .82). In comparing absolute mean accuracies by crane scale weights identified strong correlations (R^2 = .87) for truck and trailer data and forwarder data (R^2 = .82). In comparing absolute mean accuracies in loader scale weight, increases in average accuracy and decreases in their standard deviations were found to occur. When loader scale weights of timber truck and trailer observations varied between < 5,000 to 45,000-50,000 kg standard deviations of the average differences were found to vary between 2.97-5.66%, while standard deviations of average differences of forwarder loader scales with weight classifications from < 6,000-> 11,000 kg were found to vary from 1.48-4.08%.

When measuring accuracy by scale manufacturers, statistical differences ($p \le .05$) among average differences of scale manufacturers occurred for both timber truck and trailer scale manufacturers and forward scale manufacturers utilized within the study. However, differences were relatively small with average differences varying from -0.04-0.24% and standard deviations of 2.75-3.66% for timber truck and trailer crane scale manufacturers and average differences of -0.41-0.34% and standard deviations of 1.03-2.59% among forwarder scale manufacturers. When measuring performance among the scale manufacturers, approximately $\ge 87\%$ of observations among the five timber truck and trailer scale model observations had accuracies within the $\pm 4\%$ required accuracy limit. Of

the six forwarder crane scales utilized, \geq 97% of observations fell within the specified accuracy range.

Among the crane scales utilized within the study, hydraulic measuring and strain gauge measuring principles were utilized. Crane scale manufacturers utilizing hydraulic pressure as the measuring principle were found to have lower absolute means and standard deviations than that of the scales utilizing strain gauge measuring (Paper IV). Statistically significant average differences were identified when comparing measuring principles utilized among forwarder crane scales (p = .000), while significant differences were not established among timber truck and trailer measuring principles (p = .163), where only one manufacturer utilized the strain gauge measuring principle. Average differences of approximately 87% of the strain gauge and 88.4% of the hydraulic pressure measuring principles of the truck and trailer scale manufacturers were within the \pm 4% accuracy limit, while 99% of strain gauge and 99.3% of the scales utilizing hydraulic pressure among the forwarder data fell within the \pm 4% average difference.

Examining accuracy by time period, separating accuracy measurements into quarterly time periods found higher standard deviations and absolute means occurred in both timber truck and trailer and forwarder data sets during the second quarter. Average differences of timber truck and trailer data varied from -0.33-0.18%, while standard deviations from 3.84-4.71%. Approximately 77.5-85.3% of accuracy measurements between Q1 and Q4 fell within $\pm 4\%$. Within the forwarder measurement accuracy data average differences among the quarter's ranged between -0.09-0.19% and standard deviations from 1.17-1.74%. Between 98.5-100% of the forwarder accuracy measurements, when segmented by quarterly time periods were found to be within $\pm 4\%$. Calculated average differences among quarterly measurements were found to be statistically significant for both truck and trailer (p = .000) and forwarder (p = .006) observations with significant differences occurring among Q1 and Q2 and between Q1 and Q4 within the forwarder data.

Accuracy of measurements when compared among pulpwood and logwood timber assortments within the truck and trailer data found average differences of the assortments to display a statistically significant difference (p = .000). Pulpwood assortments displayed an average difference of approximately 0% and a standard deviation of 4.23%, while the logwood measurements displayed an average difference of -0.44% and standard deviation of 4.64%. A slightly larger percentage of pulpwood observations were within the required \pm 4% accuracy limit at 81.6% compared to 79.3% of logwood observations. Additionally, when measuring performance of contractors within both studies, contactor accuracies were found to be statistically different (p = .032). However, both sets of contractors utilized in the forwarder and timber truck and trailer data displayed high absolute mean accuracies with > 90% of truck and trailer contractors \leq 4% and 99.4% of forwarder contractors displaying mean accuracies of $\leq 4\%$. When examining system costs of operating a crane scale measurement system compared to a manual timber pile measurement system, the unit costs of a manual timber pile measurement system were 18.2-45.5% higher than that of the crane scale measuring system when working volumes varied from 20,000 m³ to 30,000 m³. Lower unit costs allowed the crane scale measurement system to reduce costs by approximately 1,200-4,500 €year with estimated working volumes varying between 20,000 m^3 to 30,000 m^3 when compared to the traditional manual timber pile measurement within the study.

Integrated energy wood and pulpwood supply chain considerations

To examine the effect of harvesting systems on total operating costs, integrated energy wood and pulpwood supply chains utilizing roadside chipping and chipping at plant chain of supplies were compared (paper III). An operation area of 3 ha, average wood chip and pulpwood transportation distances in Finland of 70 km for wood chips (energy wood chips and delimbed stemwood) and 110 km for pulpwood (Strandström 2012), pulpwood market prices of 39 \notin m³ and 37.2 \notin m³ (18.6 \notin m³), and removal volumes were assumed in paper III. Sole production of pulpwood with single and multi-tree handling operating systems produced total supply chain costs varying from 34.5-55.9 €m³ with a stem size (DBH) of removal between 7-17 cm. Total costs of the production system utilizing multi-tree handling were approximately 2-6% lower than with the method utilizing single-tree handling and can be attributed to the increases in harvesting productivity with multi-tree handling. When looking at the Integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods utilized within a roadside chipping supply chain, total supply chain costs were found to vary between 33.7-55.3 €m³ with a stem DBH varying between 5-17 cm. When comparing integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods to the pulpwood harvesting method with single tree handling, total supply chain costs when utilizing roadside chipping were between 1-28% lower than the pulpwood (STH) operating method at a stem size (DBH) of removal between 7-11 cm. The delimbed stemwood method utilizing multi-tree handling and combined fractions was found to have approximately 0.5-5.1% lower operating costs when compared to the same delimbed stemwood method, but with separate fractions and held the lowest total supply chain costs varying from $33.7-37.3 \notin m^3$. By conducting operations with chipping performed at the plant, rather than at roadside, total operational costs of integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods were able to be reduced by a further 2-11% at a stem size (DBH) of removal between 5-17 cm with total operational costs varying between 32.5-49.8 €m³.

Cost shares of the supply chain elements at a stem size (DBH) of removal at 11 cm were identified within the study. Harvesting costs, the combined costs of cutting and forwarding, were found to be the largest cost factor within both roadside chipping and chipping at plant supply chains. Harvesting costs varied due to harvesting system in use with the pulpwood harvesting systems (STH and MTH) accounting for 43% to 41% of supply chain costs, respectively. Within the roadside chipping supply chain, integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting costs were approximately 31.9-38.1% of total costs, while when chipping at plant harvesting costs accounted for 37.2-40.0%. The second largest cost factor identified in both supply chains were transportation costs, which varied between 21-29% of total costs.

Gross profit margins, based on each of the cutting systems were calculated as a percentage share by dividing gross income by assumed revenues based on removals (paper III). For the roadside chipping supply chain, gross profit margins varied from -48.5-12.8% at stem sizes (DBH) of removal between 5-17 cm. Profitability of systems were highly dependent on stem sizes. When operating at stem sizes of > 11 cm, the sole production of pulpwood utilizing multi-tree handling was found to be the most profitable with profit margins between 8.6-11.5%. Operating in stem sizes below 11 cm, the delimbed stemwood method with multi-tree handling and combined fractions was the most profitable production system with gross profit margins vary from -36% to as high as 12.8% in stem sizes (DBH) of removal of 7-11 cm and was the only energy wood and pulpwood production system to be profitable at a stem size (DBH) of 7 cm. By comparison, at a stem size of 7 cm, the production of pulpwood utilizing the pulpwood (MTH) method had a negative gross profit

margin (loss) of -35.2% compared to a 2.5% gross profit when producing energy wood and pulpwood utilizing the delimbed stemwood (MTH, CF) method, representing a profit margin difference of 32.7%.

Profitability, based on profit margins, increased further when the chipping at plant supply chain was utilized instead of roadside chipping. Profit margins varied from -43.4-15.7%. The delimbed stemwood method (MTH, CF) was found to have higher profitability levels in a wider variation of stem sizes (DBH) between 7-15 cm with profit margins varying between 8.7-10.3%. In stem sizes (DBH) > 15 cm, the pulpwood (MTH) method was found to be the most profitable system to operate with a gross profit margin of approximately 8.6-9.9%. When comparing the profitability at a stem size (DBH) of 7 cm, the delimbed stemwood (MTH, CF) displayed a 26.5% difference in gross profit margin when compared to the Pulpwood (MTH) system. Profitability of the two supply chains analyzed, as well as the relative divergence in profit margins based on stem size (DBH) of removals for the pulpwood (MTH), integrated, and delimbed stemwood (MTH, CF) methods within paper III is represented in Figure 4.

Policy implications in relation to supply chain profitability

Financial incentives when operating in small-diameter forest stands for the production of forest chips to be utilized in combined heat and power were assessed in papers I and III. Effects of subsidies, as can be expected, lowered total operational costs and increased profitability. However, profitability levels were determined based on stem size of removals, market prices, and variable levels of incentives adding insight into under what conditions incentives may be needed. Within paper I, the aggregate production costs of a roadside chipping supply chain utilizing a whole-tree energy wood harvesting system were determined. Supply chain costs were between 41-47 m^3 (20.4-23.3 MWh), while the average price of forest chips was approximately 18 MWh. Low paying capability compared to the total operational costs determined based on forest stand and supply chain assumptions (paper I) suggested the inability of operating profitable whole-tree harvesting energy wood operations in small-diameter forest stands < 80 dm³ without the aid of financial incentives. When including applicable incentives through the Kemera subsidy system (paper I), total production costs were found to be lower than the assumed market price of energy wood chips when operating in small-diameter forest stands > 20 dm^3 .

Additionally, scenarios where decreases in allocated subsidies were tested to determine energy wood profitability under market conditions reflected in forest chip prices of 15 \notin MWh, 17.5 \notin MWh, and 20 \notin MWh and the potential change in allocation of incentives by decreases in subsidies were examined. Assuming utilization of the Kemera subsidies, profitable operations were found to occur at minimum average stem sizes of 47-17 dm³ with forest chip prices paid at the gate of plants varying between 15-20 \notin MWh, displaying the effect market prices have on viability of energy wood operations. When reducing allocations of subsides, from 25% below the subsidy levels assumed, profitability was found to occur with an average stem size of 40 dm³ at a forest chip price of 17.5 \notin MWh. A reduction of subsidies of 50% found operations to be profitable with a minimum average stem size of 35 dm³ at forest chip prices of 20 \notin MWh. Results indicated that based the subsidy levels provided through the kemera subsidy system, reductions in financial incentives by approximately 25-50% depending on market prices of forest chips would be possible.



Figure 4. Gross profit margin by supply chain and selected cutting methods with and without applicable incentives as a function of stem size (DBH) of removal (paper III).

Following a reorganization of the subsidies offered for combined heat and power production from energy wood to be adopted in 2015, available subsidies (paper III) are approximately 42.5% lower than previously assumed in paper I. The effects of subsidies on integrated energy wood, delimbed stemwood and pulpwood production were examined through a roadside chipping and a chipping at plant supply chain in paper III. The relative divergence in profit margins by selected harvesting methods and supply chains performed with and without applied incentives in paper III is elucidated in Figure 4. Profitability levels without subsidies were generally distinguished at stem size (DBH) > 7 cm for integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods when chipping at roadside.

With lower total costs, the profitability levels of integrated and delimbed stemwood methods when chipping at plant were approximately ≥ 7 cm. Increases in gross profit margins from 3.8-19.9% were found to occur when adding available financial incentives estimated to be offered within the PETU subsidy system at stem sizes (DBH) or removal from 5-17 cm. With the increase in gross profit margins, of the integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods analyzed, profitability limits would occur at a decreased stem size (DBH) of removal between 5-7 cm.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Efficiency improvements and cost reductions through rationalization

By collectively utilizing findings from papers I-IV, means or pathways to increase efficiency, reliability, and reduce supply chain costs when harvesting small-diameter forest stands for the production of energy were identified. Rationalization of harvesting technologies and methods, timber measuring technology, and policy through the application of financial incentives was found to increase efficiency and reduce costs. When combined or utilized individually, the various rationalization methods to increase efficiency, reliability, and reduce cost were able to increase the viability of production of energy wood from small-diameter stands that are prone to high costs and low profitability.

One of the critical areas where efficiency improvements and cost reductions occurred was within cutting, where the cutting systems and cutting methods employed had robust effects on the productivity of stem processing, leading to variation in cutting costs based on the harvesting system employed. Within the productivity and cost studies (paper II and III), time studies were conducted on harvesting plots within one forest stand utilizing one machine unit and one operator for each study and were assumed to be reasonably comparable, which potentially introduced bias into the study. Comparability of the time and productivities of the cutting methods strived to compare methods under similar plot conditions within the same forest stand conditions. However, variation in distribution of removals was apparent among the methods due to material requirements between the methods. Furthermore, within paper II and III, correlation between stem size (DBH) of removals provided larger variations than expected. Low correlations potentially suggest other influencing factors, such as tree species, or the operator influencing processing times and productivities established. However, notice should be given that depending on the machine operator large variations in productivity as great as 35-40% have been found to occur when the same machine is utilized by different operators as previously displayed by Sirén (1998), Kärhä et al. (2004), and Ovaskainen (2009). Additionally, as Harstela (1993) notes, absolute productivity requires collection of operating data from not just one operator, but many to determine reliable average productivity. Both time and productivity studies (paper II and III) were found to be conducted with reasonable study data when compared to previous cutting time studies of Kärhä et al. (2004), Kärhä and Mutikainen (2008), Iwarsson Wide and Belbo (2009), Di Fulvio et al. (2011), Kärhä (2011b), and Lehtimäki and Nurmi (2011). To compare the results of the productivities achieved during cutting, productivities of the cutting systems utilized in papers II and III were compared to similar systems utilized in productivity studies in thinning stands with stem size of removal approximately 11 cm (volume of removal ~50 dm³). Estimated productivities within paper II and III found productivities of pulpwood cutting utilizing single-tree handling to be approximately 10.5 m^3/PMH_0 (7.5 m^3/PMH_{15}) (paper II) and 7.3 m^3/PMH_0 (10.1 m^{3}/PMH_{15}) (paper III), while estimated productivities under similar first thinning conditions within Finland of Kärhä et al. (2004) and Lehtimäki and Nurmi (2011) were found to be lower at 5.6 m^3 /PMH₁₅ and 6.1 m^3 /PMH₀, respectively.

As a comparison, productivities of other studies with integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods utilizing multi-tree handling under similar conditions were examined. Productivities were found to be approximately $\geq 27.4\%$ of the compared pulpwood cutting productivities with single-tree handling capabilities with recent integrated and delimbed stemwood studies having estimated productivities of 8.4-9.3 m^3/PMH_0 (Lehtimäki and Nurmi 2011) and 10.7 m³/PMH₁₅ (Kärhä 2011b). Of the productivities established within the papers utilized for this study, both integrated and delimbed stemwood cutting methods at a stem size (DBH) of removal of 11 cm were found to be approximately 12.7-13.7 m^{3}/PMH_{0} (9-9.8 m^{3}/PMH_{15}) (paper II) and 9.5-11.9 m^{3}/PMH_{0} (13.3-16.6 m^{3}/PMH_{15}) (paper III) representing increases in productivities of $\geq 16.7\%$ (paper II) and $\geq 24\%$ (paper III) when compared to the pulpwood productivities (STH) established in both studies. Increases in productivities were found to be of similar and reasonable proportions when compared to those of Kärhä et al. (2004), Lehtimäki and Nurmi (2011), and Kärhä (2011b). The relatively higher productivities achieved in paper III when compared with paper II, could be explained by the high proportion of birch within the harvesting plots of the study in addition to the operator and harvesting system, leading to higher productivities achieved in

harvesting of broadleaf trees when compared to pine and spruce, due to the smaller proportion of crown biomass on the tree (Heikkilä et al. 2005).

Of the technologies and methods contributing to increasing efficiency and reducing costs, the utilization of multi-tree handling, implementation of integrated and delimbed stemwood recovery, and the reduction of timber assortments were identified as the largest contributors to cost reductions within the studies of paper II and III. Productivity of pulpwood cutting when using multi-tree handling was found to be from 2% higher to 7% below (paper II) that of the pulpwood method with STH. While within paper III 11-25% increases were identified by utilizing MTH (paper III). The effect of the operator, as noted in paper II, contributed to the small increase to decrease in productivity based on stem size (DBH) of removal occurring in paper II, and was attributed to the relative inexperience of the operator in certain cutting methods. However, when compared to the increase in productivity reported in paper III, findings were similar to those of Lilleberg (1994), Bergkvist (2003), and Gingras (2004), where the ability to process more than one stem at a time increases productivity of pulpwood cutting by an average of 20-30%, or a 30-40% increase when increasing processed stems per handling by 2-3 trees (Iwarsson Wide and Belbo 2009). However, increases in productivity by utilization of MTH were less pronounced when comparing delimbed stemwood methods (paper III) with increases of only 3-14% and were found to be lower than increases estimated by Lehtimäki and Nurmi (2011) and Iwarsson Wide and Belbo (2009).

Productivity increases identified when utilizing multi-tree handling technology in separate pulpwood harvesting were found to translate to decreases in costs from 7.4-9.3% with stem size (DBH) of removals varying between 7-17 cm compared to a traditional single-tree handling method for pulpwood harvesting (paper III). Decreases in costs were less pronounced when comparing similar methods in paper II, with a decrease in cost of 1.5% at a stem size (DBH) of 7 cm due to the machine operator's skill level with the harvesting technique. However, as noted in paper II, the higher harvesting costs can be attributed to low productivities derived from the relative inexperience of the operator with multi-tree handling in pulpwood thinnings. Through both studies, however, the ability of multi-tree handling technology in increasing productivity and reducing harvesting costs was apparent not only among the pulpwood methods analyzed (cf. Figure 2-4).

With the implementation of integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting utilizing multi-tree handling, increases in recovery of both delimbed stemwood capable of being allocated to either energy wood or pulpwood fractions, allowed for increases in productivity and further reductions in costs, particularly in conditions with smaller stem size (DBH) of removals < 11 cm. When comparing integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods to that of pulpwood utilizing single-tree handling, significant increases in cutting productivity occurred varying from 4-121% (paper II) and 8.6-168% (paper III) greater than the pulpwood (STH) cutting method based on stem size (DBH) of removals between 7-17 cm. The increases in productivity directly translated into reductions in total harvesting costs by up to 44% when utilizing the Integrated harvesting method (paper II) and as high as 52.4% with the delimbed stemwood methods. The effect of MTH on harvesting costs however, was lower when comparing delimbed stemwood methods in paper III with reductions of costs varying from approximately 1-10% when compared to STH.

When determining profitable allocations of raw material under harvesting systems, both integrated and delimbed stemwood methods provide flexibility based on quality and material demands that allow the cutting method to adapt to needs based on market and quality requirements of energy facilities and pulp mills, as has been noted by Kärhä et al. (2011a). If high material requirements are present, energy wood and pulpwood assortments may be recovered separately, while when the pulp mill allows for lower quality material then delimbed stemwood harvesting methods allow for additional adaptability with lower stem sizes. As Jylhä (2011) has noted, the wood paying capability of pulp mills often restricts energy wood fractions to relatively low proportions when compared to pulpwood and has found harvesting of whole-trees from small-diameter forest stands to be unprofitable below pulpwood dimensions due to high harvesting costs. Integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting, however, were able to increase productivity to a level where profitability based on total supply chain costs and wood paying capability of end use facilities occurred. Energy wood and pulpwood production was viable with proportions of energy wood fractions varying from 13-44% at a stem size (DBH) of removal increasing from 7-17 cm and when operating below 7 cm, the energy wood accounted for all removals (paper III).

However, profitability of the integrated and delimbed harvesting systems utilized were dependent on the assumed supply chains and transportation distances (paper III), which found total supply chain costs when chipping at plant approximately 2-11% lower than when chipping at roadside based on a stem size (DBH) of removal between 5-17 cm. Both supply chain scenarios were able to increase profitability over traditional pulpwood harvesting with dimensions considered to produce pulpwood (cf. Figure 4). Based on profit margins identified from pulpwood and roadside chipping supply chains, pulpwood production was found to be the most profitable when operating in stem sizes (DBH) greater than 11 cm, while with stem sizes between 7-11 cm a delimbed stemwood system was identified as the most profitable (cf. Figure 4). Profitability, as measured by gross profit margin, when comminution occurred at the plant was further increased. Delimbed stemwood production was identified as the most profitable harvesting option and supply chain with stem size (DBH) of removals between 7-15 cm, while pulpwood production with multi-tree handling provided the highest profitability in stem sizes (DBH) greater than 15 cm (paper III). Results were found to confirm that delimbed stemwood harvesting, as suggested by Laitila et al. (2010), is feasible in stem sizes (DBH) from 7-13 cm and is certainly an economically viable option in the production of energy wood and pulpwood.

An additional method to improve efficiency of harvesting within small-diameter forest stands was found to be adapting harvesting and sorting methods to combine timber fractions and thereby reduce the number of assortments handled. Increases in productivity were found to be between approximately 1.8-8.2% (paper II) and 8-11% (paper III) when utilizing combined fractions compared to separate fractions within a delimbed stemwood harvesting system. Increases in productivities were found to be higher than suggested by Brunberg and Arlinger (2001), where cutting productivity could be increased by 1% when decreasing each assortment number. Increases in productivity when utilizing combined assortments were found to reduce cutting costs from 1.5-4.3% (paper II) and 2.2-8.2% (paper III) at stem size of removals between 5-17 cm.

Technology utilization within timber measurement has also been an area where rationalization of small-diameter forest can occur and in turn increase reliability and reduce costs. With increased focus on efficiency, reliability, and cost reductions within logistics, crane scale measuring has increased its share in timber measuring throughout Finland (Melkas and Hämäläinen 2012), particularly after becoming an official measuring method for industrial roundwood in 2009 (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2008b, 2010) and agreement between interested parties within the forest and energy industries concerning

energy wood measurement (Lindblad et al. 2010). Furthermore, utilization of crane scale measurement has been viewed as a technical solution to increase efficiency and reduce costs within timber procurement, especially in small-diameter forest stands (Oikari et al. 2010). Crane scale measurement, in particular is an asset when utilized within integrated pulpwood and energy wood harvesting activities, due to the ability to handle both fractions (Kärhä et al. 2011a). When determining crane scale measurement accuracy, it was found that the large majority of accuracy measurements in both forwarder (99.2 %) and truck and trailer (81.4 %) data complied with accuracy requirements of ± 4 % set by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry in Finland (paper IV). The accuracies measured within the study (paper IV) displayed improved performance when compared to studies of Heikkilä et al. (2004) when determining accuracy by volume measurements and comparative descriptive statistics of crane scale measurements recorded in studies of Heikkilä et al. (2004), Hujo (2006) and Iwarsson Wide and Jönsson (2012).

Estimates of the percentage share of observations within accuracy limits were significantly higher compared to the estimated 41% of loader scale and 28% of timber pile measurement observations of Heikkilä et al. (2004) within the ± 4% accuracy limit, although accuracy by volume measurement was conducted with medium to small load sizes and storage piles. While when comparing accuracy by loader scale weight classifications, correlations between accuracy and weight (kg) were identified (paper IV) similar to the correlation between volume (m³) and accuracy identified by Heikkilä et al. (2004). Additionally, comparative scale performance in paper IV was identified when comparing scale manufacturers utilizing similar test weight and weigh bridge accuracy calculations performed by Iwarsson Wide and Jönsson (2012). However, differences in suggested performance of hydraulic and strain gauge measuring principles occurred (paper IV). Within the crane scale study (paper IV), the largest variations in accuracies were determined to occur when observations were categorized by weight classification and seasonal time periods and suggested that accuracy is primarily dependent on the two. However, their percentage share of observations meeting accuracy requirements was still relatively high with > 70% of truck and trailer and > 98% of observations within $\pm 4\%$ (paper IV). To further assess crane scale measuring as a means to increase efficiency, system costs were compared against a manual timber pile system (paper IV), finding that utilization of a crane scaling system has the potential to provide measurement cost reductions by approximately 18.2-45.5% when compared to the manual timber pile measurement system at the roadside when assuming volumes from $20,000-30,000 \text{ m}^3$ per year. The findings in cost reductions translated to cost savings of 1,200-4,500 €year depending on working volumes when utilizing the crane scale system. Findings suggested that utilization of the crane scale system would increase cost efficiency in addition to providing a reliable measuring system to be utilized in timber procurement of not only industrial roundwood, but also energy wood.

Financial incentives were investigated as a final means to reduce operational costs when producing energy wood from small-diameter forest stands. Reductions of costs, however, were not derived from efficiency improvements, but through the effective use of policy. With the goal of encouraging energy production from energy wood derived from small-diameter forest stands in Finland, financial incentives have in the past been provided through the Sustainable Silviculture Foundation Law (Kemera) and are estimated be allocated under the PETU system starting in 2015. Within paper I, applicable financial subsidies under the Kemera system were identified and applied to supply chain costs of a whole-tree energy wood harvesting system, which were found not to be an economically

viable option when harvesting in typical small-diameter forest stands. When operating without the applicable incentives, it was found that the average stem size would need to be approximately 80 dm³ with market prices of energy wood chips at 18 \notin MWh to become financially viable (paper I), which has been similar to findings of Kärhä (2002), Vasara (2006), and Helynen et al. (2007). Furthermore, energy wood harvesting even when utilizing the subsidies has been found to be cost prohibitive, as noted by Laitila et al. (2010) with stem size (DBH) of removal of 8 cm in both whole-tree and delimbed stemwood harvesting systems utilizing a roadside chipping supply chain. Within the study of Laitila et al. (2010), the subsidized procurement costs of whole-trees were found to be 23% above the utilized market price of forest chips, while with higher harvesting costs, delimbed stemwood was approximately 38% greater than the utilized forest chip price.

Within paper I, market prices were found to have a robust effect on the profitability limits for production of energy wood from whole-tree harvesting with the required average stem size decreasing from 50-20 dm³ and when forest chip prices paid upon delivery varied from 15-20 \bigstar MWh. Findings suggested that depending on market prices, reductions in subsidies up to 25-50% could occur depending on forest chip prices. When determining profitability of integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods under the PETU subsidy system for the production of energy wood (paper III), cost shares of energy wood supply chains alone were not profitable at a stem size (DBH) of removal of 11 cm with the roadside chipping supply chain, however at the same stem size and when chipping at plant, system costs of energy wood fractions were below the estimated market price of 37.2 m^3 (18.6 mWh). However, when integrating both pulpwood and energy wood fractions with the proportion of energy wood removals varying from 13-44% at stem sizes (DBH) of 7-17 cm, integrated and delimbed stemwood harvesting methods were found to have break-even points at between 7-9 cm when chipping at roadside and > 5-7 cm when chipping at plant without the utilization of available subsidies.

When applying applicable incentives between \notin 808-933 based on paper III, profit margins were found to increase from 3.8-19.9% with the largest increases at stem sizes between 5-7 cm, however low profit margins were still evident and operations at stem sizes (DBH) of \leq 5 cm were still considered economically unviable. Utilization of incentives to increase the cost competitiveness of energy wood production in Finland in many cases have allowed for the production of energy wood from various stand conditions and harvesting systems that might not have otherwise occurred (Kärhä 2002; Vasara 2006; Helynen et al. 2007). While incentives provide an important tool in decreasing costs of energy production in small-diameter forest stands, they also play an important role of encouraging active management leading to improved silvicultural conditions without which, reduce growth rates and raw material quality would lead to reductions in value when producing future industrial roundwood (Varmola and Salminen 2004; Huuskonen and Hynynen 2006; Hilska-Aaltonen 2009). Identifying where and when subsidies allow for the production of energy wood among whole-tree, delimbed stemwood, and integrated harvesting systems provides an important means to identify efficient systems based on stand conditions, supply chains, and market conditions and should be encouraged.

Future research

Systemic factors influencing the profitability of energy wood production from smalldiameter forest stands have been noted to include high harvesting costs particularly due to the small stem sizes and low removals per hectare. Rationalizing aspects of operations within energy wood supply chains through harvesting methods, technology, and utilization of policy have been found to be an effective way to mitigate high costs from performing operations in small-diameter forest stands. Laitila et al. (2010) have noted that intelligent selection of harvesting methods for different stand conditions allows for the minimizing of distances associated with transport and costs of harvesting. This rational can be further extended by focusing on methods and technology that can be utilized throughout the whole supply chain from forest to the gate of energy facility or pulp mill. Technologies and methods that are proven to increase efficiency and reduce costs, should be utilized whenever possible. Further research covering the influence of proportion of energy wood and pulpwood removals, payload influences on forwarders and trucks, and cutting methods which increase productivity should be actively researched to find further pathways to reduce costs within the often cost prohibitive environment of harvesting energy wood and industrial roundwood from small-diameter forest stands.

REFERENCES

- Asikainen A. (2004). Puunkorjuu ja kuljetus [Wood harvesting and transportation]. In: Harstela P. (ed). Metsähake ja metsätalous. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen teidonantoja 913:26-36.
- Belbo H. (2010). Comparison of two working methods for small tree harvesting with a multi tree felling head mounted on farm tractor. Silva Fennica 44 (3):453-464.
- Belbo H. (2011). Efficiency of accumulating felling heads and harvesting heads in mechanized thinning of small diameter trees. Linnaeus University Dissertations No 66/2011. ISBN: 978-91-86983-08-6.
- Bergkvist I. (2003). Multi-tree handling increases productivity in smallwood thinning. Results from Skogsforsk 3/2003. Uppsala, Sweden. 4 p.
- Bergstrand K.G. (1987). Planning and analysis of time studies on forest technology. Bulletin 17 (In Swedish with English summary). The Forest Operations Institute of Sweden. Kista, Sweden. 58 p.
- Brunberg T. (1998). New techniques and methods in an expanding wood-fuel market. Wood Fuels from Conventional Forestry Publication. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Research papers 680. p. 57-68.
- Brunberg T. and Arlinger J. (2001). Vad kostar det att sortera virket i skogen ?. [What does it cost to sort at the stump?]. Results from Skogsforsk 3/2001 (In Swedish with English summary). Uppsala, Sweden. 4 p.
- Cost Action. (2010). Good practice guidelines for biomass production studies. In: Magagnotti N. and Spinelli R. (eds.). COST Action FP-0902. WG 2 Operations research and measurement methodologies. CNR IVALSA, Sesto Fiorentino, Italy. ISBN: 978-88-901660-4-4.
- Conrad IV J.L., Bolding C.M., Aust M.W., Smith A.H. (2013). Harvesting productivity and costs when utilizing energywood from pine plantations of the Southern Coastal Plain USA. Biomass and Bioenergy 52 (2013): 85-95. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.02.038
- Di Fulvio F. and Bergström D. (2013). Analyses of a single-machine system for harvesting pulpwood and/or energy-wood in early thinnings. International Journal of Forest Engineering 24 (1): 2-15. doi: 10.1080/14942119.2013.798935
- Di Fulvio F., Kroon A., Bergström D., Nordfjell T. (2011). Comparison of energy wood and pulpwood thinning systems in young birch stands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 26(4): 339-349. doi: 10.1080/02827581.2011.568951

- Finnish law statute. (2007). Kestävän metsätalouden rahoituslaki (544). [The sustainable silviculture foundation law (544)]. Finnish law statute, Government of Finland. http://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/alkup/2007/20070544 [Cited 2 March 2014]
- Gingras J.F. (2004). Early studies of multi-tree handling in Eastern Canada. International Journal of Forest Engineering 15(2): 18-22.
- Haarlaa R., Harstela P., Mikkonen E., Mäkelä J. (1984). Metsätyöntutkimus. [Forest Work Study]. University of Helsinki. Department of Logging and Utilization of Forests products. Research Notes 46. Helsinki, Finland. 50 p.
- Hakkila P. (2005). Fuel from early thinnings. International Journal of Forest Engineering 16(1): 11-14.
- Hakkila P. (2006). Factors driving the development of forest energy in Finland. Biomass and Bioenergy 30 (4): 281-288. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2005.07.003
- Hamsley K.A., Greene W.D., Siry P.J., Mendell C.B. (2007). Improving timber trucking performance by reducing variability of log truck weights. South Journal of Applied Forestry. 31 (1): 12-16.
- Han H-S., Lee H.W., Johnson L.R. (2004). Economic feasibility of an integrated harvesting system for small-diameter trees in southwest Idaho. Forest Products Journal 54 (2): 21-27.
- Harstela P. (1988). Principle of comparative time studies in mechanized forest work. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research. Res. 3: 253-257.
- Harstela P. (1993). Forest work science and technology, Part I. Silva Carelica 25. Faculty of Forestry, University of Joensuu, Joensuu, Finland. 113 p.
- Hautala A. (2011). Metsänhaketusketjujen kustannuskilpailukyky [Cost competitiveness of wood chip supply chains]. Master's thesis in Forest Science. Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry, Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki. 09/20011 (In Finnish with English summary). 95 p.
- Heikkilä J., Lindblad J., Hujo S., Verkasalo E. (2004). Pienten kuitupuuerien mittaus puutavara-auton kuormainvaa'alla. [Small-diameter pulpwood measuring utilizing timber truck loader scales]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 4/2004: 527-540.
- Heikkilä J., Laitila J., Tanttu V., Lindblad J., Sirén M., Asikainen A. et al. (2005). Karsitun energiapuun korjuuvaihtoehdot ja kustannustekijät. [Harvesting alternatives and cost factors of delimbed energy wood]. Working Papers of the Finnish Forest Research Institute 10, 2005 (In Finnish). 56 p. ISBN: 951-40-1964-4.

- Heikkilä J., Sirén M., Äijälä O. (2007). Management alternatives of energy wood thinning stands. Biomass and Bioenergy 31 (5): 255-266. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.01.013
- Helynen S., Flyktman M., Asikainen A., Laitila J. (2007). Metsätalouteen ja metsäteollisuuteen perustuvan energialiiketoiminnan mahdollisuudet. [Scenarios on wood-based bioenergy business in Finland for the forestry and forest industry]. VTT Tiedotteita- Research Notes 2397. 72 p. ISBN: 978-951-38-6942-7.
- Hilska-Aaltonen M. (2009). Metsäsektorin energialinjaukset ja tuet. [Energy strategy and subsidies in the forestry sector]. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. http://www.mmm.fi/attachments/harkkarinliitteet/5HntKwkXO/HILSKA_AALTONEN _MMM-MEO.pdf [Cited 10 February 2014].
- Hudson J.B. (1995). Integrated harvesting systems. Biomass and Bioenergy 9 (1-5): 141-151.
- Hujo S. (2006). Kuormainvaakojen punnitustarkkuus. [Loader scale weighing accuracy]. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja, 2/2006 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 24 p.
- Huuskonen S. and Hynynen J. (2006). Timing and intensity of precommercial thinning and their effects on the first commercial thinning in Scots pine stands. Silva Fennica 40(4): 645-662.
- Iwarsson Wide M. and Belbo H. (2009). Jämförande studie av olika tekniker för skogsbränsleuttag. Skogsbränsleuttag med Naarva-Gripen 1500-40E, Bracke C16.A och Log Max 4000, Mellanskog, Färila. [Comparative study of different techniques for forest energy harvesting. Energy wood harvesting with the Naarva-Gripen 1500-40E, Bracke C16.A and Log Max 4000 in the forests of Mellanskog, Färila]. Arbetsrapport från Skogforsk 679 (In Swedish). Uppsala, Sweden. 44 p.
- Iwarsson Wide M. and Jönsson P. (2012). Utvärdering av kranhängda vågsystem. [Evaluation of crane-mounted weighing systems]. Arbetsrapport Skogforsk 770-2012 (In Swedish with English summary). Uppsala, Sweden. 26 p.
- Johansson J. and Gullberg T. (2002). Multiple tree handling in the selective felling and bunching of small trees in dense stands. International Journal of Forest Engineering 13 (2): 25-34.
- Juntunen M.L. and Herrala-Ylinen H. (2010). Metsien hoito. [Forest management]. In: Aarne, M. and Ylitalo, E. (eds.). Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 2010. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa, Finland. p. 121-166. ISBN: 978-951-40-266-1.
- Jyhlä P. (2011). Harvesting undelimbed Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) for integrated production of kraft pulp and energy. Dissertationes Forestales 133. 73 p. ISBN: 978-951-651-356-3.

- Jyhlä P., Dahl O., Laitila J., Kärhä K. (2010). The effect of supply system on the wood paying capability of a kraft pulp mill using Sctos pine harvested from first thinnings. Silva Fennica 44 (4): 695-714.
- Kariniemi A. (2010). Harvesting and long-distance transportation 2009. Metsätehon Katsaus 43 (In Finnish with English summary). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 4 p. ISSN: 1459-7721.
- Korhonen K.T., Ihalainen A., Heikkinen J., Henttonen H., Pitkänen J. (2007). Suomen metsävarat metsäkeskuksittain 2004-2006 ja metsävarojen kehitys 1996-2006. [Forest resources by forestry center in Finalnd 2004-2006 and the development of forest resources from 1996-2006]. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 2B/2007: 149-213.
- Kärhä K. (2002). Yhdistävä tarkastelu. [Combined discussion]. In: Kärhä, K. (Ed.), Smallscale technology in tending of young stands: TTS Institute, Publication 387 (In Finnish with English summary). p. 69-74.
- Kärhä K. (2006). Whole-tree harvesting in young stands in Finland. Forestry Studies/Metsanduslikud Uurimused 45, 118-134. ISSN: 1406-9954.
- Kärhä K. (2007). Ensiharvennusten korjuuolot vuosina 2000-2005 [Harvesting conditions in first-thinning stands during 2000-2005]. Metsätehon Tuloskalvosarja, 2007 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 20 p.
- Kärhä K. (2011a). Industrial supply chains and production machinery of forest chips in Finland. Biomass and Bioenergy 35 (8): 3404-3413. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.11.016
- Kärhä K. (2011b). Integrated harvesting of energy wood and pulpwood in first thinnings using the two-pile cutting method. Biomass and Bioenergy 35 (2011): 3397-3403. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.10.029
- Kärhä K. and Mutikainen A. (2008). Moipu 400ES ensiharvennuspuun integroidussa hakkuussa. [Integrated cutting of first-thinning wood with a Moipu 400ES]. TTS tutkimuksen tiedote, luonnonvara-ala: metsä 726, 10/2008 (In Finnish). 6 p. ISSN: 1797-1608.
- Kärhä K. and Keskinen S. (2011). Ensiharvennukset metsäteollisuuden raaka-ainelähteenä 2000-luvulla [First thinnings as a raw material source of Finnish forest industries in the 21st century]. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 2/2011 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 29 p.
- Kärhä K., Rönkkö E., Gumse S-I. (2004). Productivity and cutting costs of thinning harvesters. International Journal of Forest Engineering 15(2): 43-56.
- Kärhä K., Jouhiahoo A., Mutikainen A., Mattila S. (2005). Mechanized energy wood harvesting from early thinnings. International Journal of Forest Engineering 16 (1): 15-26.

- Kärhä K., Keskinen S., Kallio T., Liikkanen R., Lindroos J. (2006). Ennakkoraivaus osana ensiharvennuspuun korjuuta. [Pre-clearing as a part of the harvesting of first-thinning wood]. Metsäteho Report 187 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 91 p. ISSN: 1459-773x.
- Kärhä K., Laitila J., Jylhä P., Nuutinen Y., Keskinen S. (2009). Kokopuun paalaustuotantoketjun tuottavuus ja kustannukset. [Productivity and costs of whole-tree bundling system]. Metsäteho Report 211 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 68 p. ISSN: 1459-773x.
- Kärhä K., Elo J., Lahtinen P., Räsänen T., Keskinen S., Saijonmaa P., Heiskanen H., Strandström M., Pajuoja H. (2010a). Kiinteiden puupolttoaineiden saatavuus ja käyttö Suomessa 2020. [Availability and use of solid wood fuels in Finland in 2020]. Työ-ja elinkeinoministeriön julkaisuja. Energia ja ilmasto. 66/2010 (In Finnish). 69 p.
- Kärhä K., Mutikainen A., Keskinen S., Petty A. (2010b). Integroidusti vai erilliskorjuunakoko-vai rankapuuna? [Integrated or separate harvesting operation-whole trees-or delimbed stemwood?]. Metsätehon Tuloskalvojarja 2/2010 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 40 p.
- Kärhä K., Petty A., Mutikainen A. (2010c). Harvesting options of small-diameter wood from early thinnings. In: Forest Bioenergy 2010- Book of Proceedings. Finbio Publications 47. Finbio- The bioenergy Association of Finland, Jyväaskylä. p. 97-102. ISBN: 978-952-5135-47-3.
- Kärhä K., Högnäs T., Petty A., Mutikainen A., Pajuoja H. (2011a). Improving the cost efficiency of small-diameter energy wood harvesting from early thinnings in Finland. In: Kanzian C. (ed.) Austro2011/FORMEC'11, Pushing the boundaries with research and innovation in forest engineering. October 9-12, 2011, Graz and Rein, Austria. p. 1-10.
- Kärhä K., Jylhä P., Laitila J. (2011b). Integrated procurement of pulpwood and energy wood from early thinnings using whole-tree bundling. Biomass and Bioenergy 35 (8): 3389-3396. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.08.068
- Kärhä K., Kumpare K., Keskinen S., Petty A. (2011c). Ponsse Ergo/H7 rankapuun hakkuussa ensiharvennuksella [Cutting delimbed small-diameter energy wood in first thinning with a Ponsee Ergo/H7]. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 1/2011 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 43 p.
- Laasasenaho J. (1982). Taper curve and volume functions of pine, spruce, and birch. Communicationes Instututi Forestalis Fenniae 108. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Finland. p. 1-74.
- Laitila J. (2008). Harvesting technology and the cost of fuel chips from early thinnings. Silva Fennica 42 (2): 267-283.

- Laitila J., Heikkilä J., Anttila P. (2010). Harvesting alternatives, accumulation and procurement cost of small-diameter thinning wood for fuel in Central Finland. Silva Fennica 44(3): 465-480.
- Laitila J. (2012). Methodology for choice of harvesting system for energy wood from early thinning. Dissertationes Forestales 143. 68 p. ISBN: 978-951-651-376-1.
- Lehtimäki J. and Nurmi J. (2011). Energy wood harvesting productivity of three harvesting methods in first thinning of Scots pine (*pinus sylvestris* L.). Biomass and Bioenergy 35 (8): 3383-3388.
 doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.09.012
- Lilleberg R. (1994). A multi-tree harvester FMG 990/756 H in first thinning of pine. Metsäteho, Review 8/1994 (In Finnish with English summary). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 6 p.
- Lilleberg R. (1997). New techniques for small-tree harvesting. In: Forest Management for Bioenergy. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Research Papers 640. p. 65-70.
- Lindblad J., Äijälä O., Koistinen A. (2010). Energiapuun mittaus [Energy wood measurement]. 27 September, 2010. Publication of the Forestry Development Center Tapio and the Finnish Forest Research Institute. 31 p. (In Finnish) ISBN: 978-952-5694-28-4.
- Lindroos O. (2010). Scrutinizing the theory of comparative time studies with operator as a block effect. International Journal of Forest Engineering 21 (1): 20-30.
- Manner J., Nordfjell T., Lindroos O. (2013). Effects of the number of assortments and log concentration on time consumption for forwarding. Silva Fennica 47 (1): 1-19. doi: 10.14214/sf.1030
- Melkas T. (2012). Wood measuring methods used in Finland in 2011. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja, 7b/2012. Vantaa, Finland. 14 p.
- Melkas T. and Hämäläinen J. (2012). Puutavaran mittauksen visio 2020: Tarkka ja kustannustehokas määrän ja laadun mittaus osana puutavaralogistiikka. [Timber measurement vision 2020: Accurate and cost-effective quantity and quality measurement in timber logistics]. Metsäteho tuloskalvosarja, 9/2012 (In Finnish). Vantaa, Finland. 5 p.
- Metla. (2013). Timber Measuring Methods, MetInfo. http://www.metla.fi/metinfo/tietopa ketit /mittaus/mittaus-menetelmat.htm [Cited 15 April, 2013].
- Metsälehti. (2013). Metsäpohjaisen energian hinta käyttöpaikalla [Forest based energy prices at place of use]. http://www.metsälehti.fi/Metsaenergia/ [Cited 5 January, 2014].

Metsäteho. (2010). Truck Transportation Model. Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland.

- Metsäteho. (2011). Kuormainvaa´an kalibrointi-ja säätöohje. [Loader scale calibration and adjustment instructions]. Metsäteho. 26.09.2011 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 3 p.
- Metsäteho. (2012a). Forest Machine Cost Calculations. Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland.
- Metsäteho. (2012b). Truck Transportation Model. Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (1999). Finland's National Forest Programme 2010. Publications of the Finnish Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. 2/1999. Helsinki, Finland. 59 p. ISBN: 978-952-453-332-4.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2008a). Finland's National Forest Programme 2015: More welfare from diverse forests-Government resolution. Publications of the Finnish Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. 3b/2008. Helsinki, Finland. 50 p. ISBN: 978-952-453-379-9.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2008b). Maa-ja metsätalousministeriön asetus kuormainvaa'an käytöstä puutavaran mittauksessa ja erien erillään pidosta. [Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry's regulation on the use of loader sales for the measurement and separation of wood]. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. No. 2593/01/2008, No. 18/08 (In Finnish). Helsinki, Finland. 7 p.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2010). Maa-ja metsätalousministeriön asetus kuormainvaa'an käytöstä puutavaran mittauksessa ja erien erillään pidosta annetun maaja metsälousministeriön asetuksen muuttamisesta. [Amendment of the Agriculture and Forestry Ministry's regulation on the use of loader sales for the measurement and separation of wood]. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. No. 666/14/2010, No. 8/10 (In Finnish). Helsinki, Finland. 8 p.
- Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. (2012). Topical review on forest energy. Forest Council Memo. Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Finland. 4/09/2012. Helsinki, Finland.
- Ministry of Employment and the Economy. (2010).Suomen kansallinen toimintasuunnitelma uusiutuvista lähteistä peräisin olevan energian edistämisetä direktiivin 2009/28/EY mukaisesti. [National action plan of Finland on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources following Directive 2009/28/EC]. Ministry of Employment Economy, Finland. and the [Cited 10 March https://www.tem.fi/files/27405/NREAP_300610_FINLAND.pdf 2014].
- Nurminen T., Korpunen H. Uusitalo J. (2006). Time consumption analysis of the mechanized cut-to-length harvesting system. Silva Fennica 40 (2): 335-363.

- Mäkelä J. (1969). Measurement of productivity seen from the forester's point of view. Työtehoseuran Julkaisuja No. 134. Helsinki, Finland. 22 p.
- Nordic agreement on. (1978). Nordic agreement on forest work study nomenclature. Nordic Forest Work Study Council (NSR). 130 p.
- Oikari M., Kärhä K., Palander T., Pajuoja H., Ovaskainen H. (2010). Analyzing the views of wood harvesting professionals related to the approaches for increasing the cost-efficiency of wood harvesting from young stands. Silva Fennica 44 (3): 481-495.
- Ostwald P. (1992). Engineering cost estimating, 3rd edition. Prentice-Hall, Inc. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. 510 p. ISBN: 0-13-276627-2.
- Ovaskainen H. (2009). Timber harvester operators working technique in first thinning and the importance of cognitive abilities on work productivity. Dissertationes Forestales 79. 62 p. ISBN: 978-951-651-246-7.
- Pekkarinen M. (2010). Kohti vähäpäästöistä Suomea: Uusiutuvan energian velvoitepaketti [Towards low emissions in Finland: Government's climate and energy strategy]. Minister of Economic Affairs press conference 20 April, 2010. http://www.tem.fi/files/26643/UE_lo_velvoitepaketti_Kesaranta_200410.pdf [Cited 28 March 2013].
- Perho A. (2012). Joukkokäsittelyn hyödyntäminen sekä kuitu- ja rankapuun integroidussa hakkuussa [The utilization possibilities of using multi-tree handling in pulpwood harvesting and integrated pulp-and energy wood harvesting operations]. Master's thesis in Forest Science. Joensuu, Finland. University of Eastern Finland. Faculty of Science and Forestry, School of Forest Sciences. Joensuu, Finland. 81 p.
- Poikela A. (2013). Expert opinion on operating costs of measuring systems, Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland.
- Puttock G.D. (1995). Estimating cost for integrated harvesting and related forest management activities. Biomass and Bioenergy 8 (2): 73-79.
- Purfürst T. and Lindroos O. (2011). The correlation between long-term productivity and short-term performance ratings of harvester operators. Croatian Journal of Forest Engineering 32 (2): 509-519.
- Purfürst T. and Erler J. (2011). The human influence on productivity in harvester operations. International Journal of Forest Engineering 22 (2): 15-22.
- Ringdahl O., Hellström T., Lindroos O. (2012). Potentials of possible machine systems for directly loading logs in cut-to-length harvesting. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 42 (5): 970-985. doi: 10.1139/x2012-036

- Samset I. (1990). Some observations on time and performance studies in forestry. Communication 43.5. Norwegian Forest Research Institute. Ås, Norway. 80 p. ISBN: 82-7169-469-3.
- Samset I. (1992). Forest operations as a scientific discipline. Communication 44.12. Norwegian Forest Research Institute. Ås, Norway. 48 p. ISBN: 82-7169-529-0.
- Shaffer R.M., McNeel J.F., Overboe P.D., O'Rourke J. (1987). On-board log truck scales: Application to southern timber harvesting. Southern Journal of Applied Forestry. 11 (2): 112-116.
- Silversides C.R. and Sundberg U. (1988). Operational efficiency in forestry. Volume 1. Practice. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. 219 p. ISBN: 90-247-3683-8.
- Siry P.J., Greene W.D., Harris G.T., Izlar L.R., Hamsley K.A. et al. (2006). Wood supply chain efficiency and fiber cost: What can we do better? Forest Products Journal 56 (10): 4-10.
- Sirén M. (1998). Hakkuukonetyö, sen korjuujälki ja puustovaurioiden ennustaminen. [Onegrip harvester operation, it's silvicultural result and possibilities to predict tree damage]. Research Papers 694 (In Finnish with English abstract). Finnish Forest Research Institute, Finland. 179 p. ISBN: 951-40-1635-1.
- Strandström M. (2012). Metsähakkeen tuotantoketjut Suomessa vuonna 2011. [Supply chains of forest chips in Finland in 2011]. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 4/2012 (In Finnish). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 24 p.
- Strandström M. (2013). Puunkorjuu ja kaukokuljetus vuonna 2012. [Harvesting and long distance transportation in 2012]. Metsätehon Katsaus 49/2012 (In Finnish with English summary). Metsäteho, Vantaa, Finland. 4 p. ISSN: 1796-2366.
- Stupak I., Nordfjell T., Gundersen P. (2008). Comparing biomass and nutrient removals of stems and fresh and predried whole trees in thinnings in two Norway spruce experiments. Canadian Journal of Forest Research. 38 (10): 2660-2673. doi: 10.1139/X08-108
- Tapio Forestry Development Center. (2008). Kemera opas. [Kemera support guide]. Metsäkeskus pirkanmaa & metsälouden kehittämiskeskus Tapio. http://www.metsavastaa.net/files/metsavastaa/Kemerakuvat/amm_kemerah.pdf [Cited 10 February 2014].
- Tapio Forest Development Center. (2010). Kemera-varojen käyttö 2009. [Allocation of kemera funds in 2009]. http://www.tapio.fi/lehdistotiedotteet?id=13028285. [Cited 10 February 2014].
- Uusitalo J. (2010). Introduction to forest operations and technology. JVP Forest Systems Oy. Kariston Kirjapaino Oy, Hämeenlinna, Finland. 287 p. ISBN: 978-952-92-5269-5.

- Varmola M. and Salminen H. (2004). Timing and intensity of precommercial thinning in *Pinus sylvestris* stands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 19 (2): 142-151. doi: 10.1080/02827580310019545
- Vasara P. (2006). Metsäenergian tuotannon, korjuun ja käytön kustannustehokkuus sekä tukijärjestelmien vaikuttavuus päästökaupan olosuhteissa [Cost-efficiency of the production, harvesting and use of forest energy and the impressiveness of support systems in the circumstances of emission trade]. Loppuraportti 52A07161-Ejpc-1 (In Finnish with English summary). Pöyry Forest Industry Consulting, Vantaa, Finland. 50 p.
- Verkasalo E., and Karvinen K. (2012). Puunkäytön mahdollisuudet ja puutuotteiden menekki. PKM-tutkimusohjelman tulokset ja niiden hyödyntäminen [Potential us of wood and wood products consumption. PKM research results and their application]. Working Papers 251 (In Finnish). Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa, Finland. 266 p. ISBN: 978-951-40-2404-7.
- Ylitalo E. (2010). Puun käyttö 2009. [Wood consumption]. In: Aarne M. and Ylitalo E. (eds.). Finnish statistical yearbook of forestry 2010. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa, Finland. p. 263-287. ISBN: 978-951-40-2266-1.
- Ylitalo E. (2012). Puun energiakäyttö 2011. [Wood consumption in energy generation 2011]. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Statistical Bulletin 16/2012 (In Finnish). Vantaa, Finland. 7 p. ISSN: 1797-3074.